
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and 
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint. 

 

Corporate Parenting Board 
27 January 2022 

 
Time 
 

5.30 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Oversight 

Venue 
 

MS Teams 

Membership 
 

Chair Cllr Beverley Momenabadi (Lab) 
 

Labour Conservative 

Cllr Mary Bateman 
Cllr Paula Brookfield 
Cllr Jasbinder Dehar 
Cllr Asha Mattu 
Cllr Rita Potter 
 

Cllr Wendy Dalton 
Cllr Stephanie Haynes 
Cllr Mak Singh 
Cllr Udey Singh 
 

Quorum for this meeting is three Councillors. 
 

Information for the Public 
 

If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the democratic services team: 

Contact Shelley Humphries 
Tel/Email Tel: 01902 554070 or shelley.humphries@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Address Democratic Services, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square, 

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL 
 

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from: 
 

Website  http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk 

email democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk  

Tel 01902 550320 

 

Please take note of the protocol for filming, recording and use of social media in meetings, copies of 
which are displayed in the meeting room. 
 
Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public. 
 

 

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

Agenda 
 

Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
 
Item No. Title 

 
1 Apologies for absence  
 

2 Declarations of interests  
 

3 Minutes of the meeting held on 25 November 2021 (Pages 3 - 10) 
 [To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 25 November 2021 as a correct 

record.] 
 

4 Matters arising  
 [To consider any matters arising from the minutes of the meeting held on 25 

November 2021.] 
 

5 Schedule of outstanding matters (Pages 11 - 14) 
 [To receive the Schedule of Outstanding Matters.] 

 

6 Children in Care Council (CiCC) Annual Survey  
 [To receive a presentation on the Annual Survey led by members of CiCC.] 

 

7 Virtual School Head Annual Report 2021 (Pages 15 - 30) 
 [To receive the Virtual School Head Annual Report 2021.] 

 

8 Children and Young People's Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021 - 
2024 (Pages 31 - 74) 

 [To receive a verbal update on the Sufficiency Strategy.] 
 

9 Support for Care Leavers Over Christmas 2021 (Pages 75 - 78) 
 [To receive an update on support provided to care leavers throughout Christmas 

2021.] 
 

10 Performance Monitoring Information (Pages 79 - 86) 
 [To receive the Performance Monitoring Information Report.] 

 

11 Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 [That in accordance with section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 

press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business 
as they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information falling within paragraph 2 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.] 
 

PART 2 - ITEMS NOT OPEN TO THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
12 Councillor Visits to Establishments - Schedule of Visits  
 [To receive verbal feedback on any visits to establishments undertaken by 

Councillors since the last meeting.] 
 



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

  
 

 

Corporate Parenting Board 
Minutes - 25 November 2021 

 

Attendance 
 
In the Chair  Cllr Wendy Dalton 
  

 

Labour   

Cllr Jasbinder Dehar 
 

Cllr Asha Mattu 
 

Cllr Rita Potter 
 

 

Conservative   

Cllr Stephanie Haynes 
 

 

Cllr Udey Singh 
 

  
 

 

In Attendance  

Shelley Humphries Democratic Services Officer 
Shaquille Spence Participation Officer 

Jazmine Walker Head of Service, Children and Young People in Care 
 

Member of the Care Leavers’ Independent Collective were welcomed as guest presenters. 

Page 3

Agenda Item No: 3



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

 
 

Item No. Title 

 
1 Election of Vice Chair 

 
Apologies were received from the Chair and members of Corporate Parenting Board 
were invited to elect a Vice Chair to take the Chair for the meeting. 
 
Following nominations and elections, it was agreed that Councillor Wendy Dalton act 
as Vice Chair for the remainder of the meeting. It was noted that since the papers 
were published, it had been proposed that a Vice Chair for the remainder of the 
municipal year would be appointed by Full Council. 
 
Resolved: 

1. That Councillor Wendy Dalton take the Chair as acting Vice Chair for the 
meeting of 25 November 2021. 

2. That a Vice Chair for the remainder of the municipal year would be appointed 
by Full Council. 

 
2 Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies for absence were received from the following members of the Corporate 
Parenting Board: Councillor Beverley Momenabadi. 
 
Apologies were also received from Alison Hinds, Emma Bennett, Michelle 
Cummings, Alice Vickers and Fiona Brennan. 
 

3 Declaration of interests 
 
There were no declarations of interest made relative to the items under consideration 
at the meeting. 
 

4 Minutes of the meeting held on 23 September 2021 
 
Resolved: 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 23 September 2021 be confirmed as 
correct record. 

 
5 Matters arising 

 
There were no matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting. 
 

6 Schedule of outstanding matters 
 
Jazmine Walker, Head of Children and Young People in Care presented the 
Schedule of outstanding matters report. In respect of the action that young people be 
invited to the Health Steering Group, it was noted that the Corporate Parenting 
Officer had been leading on that action and this was still in progress. 
 
In respect of the action regarding the Special Guardianship Order (SGO) statistics, a 
slide was shared at the meeting showing a breakdown of SGOs where the child was 
previously in the Authority’s care and private SGOs over the last three years. It was 
clarified that the figures for 2021 – 2022 showed the figure so far as five cases were Page 4



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

still pending outcome. It was then expected that there would be 13 SGOs before the 
end of the financial year. It was also expected that this level may rise higher as 
SGOs where court proceedings had been delayed from last year would be granted.  
 
A query was raised around whether services were running normally or if COVID-19 
was still having an impact on service delivery. It was reported that there had been 
pressure from a slight increase on previous years as there had been a backlog 
caused by face-to-face hearings being placed on hold in the early days of the 
pandemic. 
 
Resolved: 

That the Schedule of outstanding matters report be received. 
 

7 Refreshed Terms of Reference 
 
Jazmine Walker, Head of Children and Young People in Care presented the 
Refreshed Terms of Reference and highlighted salient points. The report outlined 
that the Terms of Reference had been reviewed and updated to ensure the 
information remained current and the Board was effective.  
 
A slight amendment was added to section 3.3 of Appendix 1 to read: 
 
The Vice Chair will be appointed from the membership and agreed at the Annual 
General Meeting of the Council.  
 
In respect of paragraph 2.13, it was asked whether many care leavers kept in touch 
with the authority or if contact was lost once leaving the system. It was noted that the 
service made an effort to engage with care leavers post-18 especially since the care 
leaver local offer was extended to young people up to the age of 25. It was reported 
that many were happy to keep in touch with their Young Person’s Advisor. 
 
A query was raised around paragraph 2.11 and who collated information on 
corporate parenting in other authorities. It was noted that the Corporate Parenting 
Officer normally kept in touch with their counterparts in other authorities and attended 
a forum to share best practice. 
 
A query was raised around residential homes and it was queried how many there 
were across the City. Upper Pendeford Farm was the only Authority managed 
residential home however there were privately owned homes in Wolverhampton as 
well. It was confirmed that numbers of Wolverhampton children placed in 
independent residential homes were included as part of the Performance Monitoring 
Information Report. 
 
In response to a query around how many young people were in apprenticeships, it 
was noted that five apprentice positions had been filled by young people in care or 
leaving care within the Authority. It was noted that the sub-group of Corporate 
Parenting Board, Corporate Parenting Partnership Board, also collaborated to 
identify opportunities, including apprenticeships in external organisations. Information 
on apprenticeships for young people with special educational needs and/or 
disabilities (SEND) would be collated and provided at the next meeting of Corporate 
Parenting Board. 
 

Page 5



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

Resolved: 
1. That the Refreshed Terms of Reference be approved subject to the verbal 

addendum. 
2. That information on apprenticeships for young people with special educational 

needs and/or disabilities (SEND) would be collated and provided at the next 
meeting of Corporate Parenting Board. 

 
8 Health Assessments 

 
Jazmine Walker, Head of Children and Young People in Care presented the Health 
Assessments report and highlighted salient points. The report sought to update the 
Corporate Parenting Board (CPB) on the challenges and actions identified in March 
2021 and the improvements in the performance reporting and the completion and 
timeliness of initial and review health assessment for all children and young people in 
care. 
 
A query was raised around access to the COVID-19 vaccine for children and young 
people in care and if there had been any challenges around this. For children subject 
to care orders who were eligible for the vaccine, the Authority was able to consent for 
them to receive it.  
 
It was noted that children were always supported in making an informed decision, 
however in the event of children saying they did not want the vaccine, legal advice 
was sought by applying to the Court for oversight to determine if they could have it. 
For those subject to Section 20 where parents still had an active role in decisions for 
their child, the parents would be consulted and legal advice taken where consent 
was not given.  
 
Assurances were offered that there had been an encouraging uptake of the vaccine 
in children and young people in care. 
 
It was acknowledged that quality of assessments and timeliness had improved and a 
query was raised around the potential barriers that may affect timeliness. It was 
noted that there had been time issues relating to accuracy of paperwork sent to 
health colleagues by social worker teams and delays were caused by incomplete 
assessment paperwork being returned. To address this, a quality assurance system 
had been put in place where administration staff checked paperwork before passing 
to health colleagues. Other delays may have been caused by paperwork not being 
returned on time following assessment.  
 
Another barrier identified was foster carers not taking children to appointments and 
the exploration of ways to address this had become a priority. It was noted that 
sometimes non-attendance was due to appointment times occurring during the 
school day, but more analysis was needed therefore monitoring of reasons given for 
non-attendance was underway.  
 
It was confirmed that appointment times were sent via letter although there was no 
follow up. As foster carers were considered to be professionals, there was an 
expectation that they would either attend with the child or rearrange the appointment 
as appropriate. Members acknowledged the professional status of the foster carers 
but suggested exploring a method of following up on appointments in case of human 
error.  

Page 6



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

 
It was confirmed that Eclipse was working more efficiently and there was increased 
confidence in the information in the Power BI reporting output results. 
 
Members requested that the development of a secondary follow up system to 
support health assessments be undertaken. It was agreed that it would be beneficial 
for the Authority to reinforce this extra step to support vulnerable children. It was also 
agreed that this would be raised with the fostering service and an update would be 
provided for the next meeting of the Board as part of the Schedule of Outstanding 
Matters.   
 
Resolved: 

1. That the update on health assessment performance be received. 
2. That Corporate Parent Board note the improvements in the performance 

reporting and the completion and timeliness of initial and review health 
assessment for all children and young people in care. 

3. That a health assessment appointment reminder system be explored and an 
update provided at the next meeting of Corporate Parenting Board. 

 
9 Care Leavers' Independent Collective (CLiC) Presentation 

 
Members of CLiC supported by Shaquille Spence, Participation Officer delivered the 
CLiC Presentation. The presentation provided an outline of the CLiC Action Plan. 
The Action Plan covered six priorities which had been identified by the young people, 
ideas around what needed to be in place, plans on how to implement these ideas 
and progress made to date. The work undertaken by the young people and the 
presentation was commended. 
 
A query was raised around barriers in securing support for assisted travel. It was 
noted there had been ongoing discussions with the West Midlands Combined 
Authority to acquire funding however there had been no commitment as of yet. It was 
noted that any suggestions for seeking support would be welcomed.  
 
Resolved: 

That Care Leavers' Independent Collective (CLiC) Presentation be received. 
 

10 Independent Reviewing Service Annual Report 
 
Jazmine Walker, Head of Children and Young People in Care introduced the 
Independent Reviewing Service Annual Report covering the period 2020 – 2021 and 
requested that the item be deferred however invited any pressing questions.  
 
The report outlined that the Wolverhampton Safeguarding Service had statutory 
responsibility for overseeing and ratifying the care plans for Children and Young 
People in Care via the activity of the Independent Reviewing Officers.  
 
The report sought to provide the Corporate Parenting Board with an overview of the 
activity of the service, the impact for children and recommendations for service 
improvement that will enhance young people’s experiences. 
 
In response to a query on whether many reviews with children and young people 
were virtual, it was confirmed that COVID had prompted the majority to be held this 

Page 7



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

way. It was reported that face to face reviews were thought to be more beneficial by 
some young people whilst others engaged better during virtual meetings. With this 
feedback in mind, a hybrid model had been developed with children and young 
people’s preferences being promoted. 
 
In response to a query, it was confirmed that the two young people on remand were 
still permitted face to face visits with their IRO.   
 
Resolved: 

That Corporate Parenting Board endorse the Annual Report of the 
Independent Reviewing Officer Service 2020-2021. 

 
11 Corporate Parenting Strategy 2022-2025 

 
The Chair introduced the Corporate Parenting Strategy 2022-2025 report. The report 
outlined that the strategy set out the City of Wolverhampton Council’s vision and 
commitment to be an effective and trustworthy corporate parent. It was outlined that 
the strategy had been developed and co-produced with the Children in Care Council 
(CiCC) and Care Leavers Independent Collective (CliC) and the Corporate Parenting 
Partnership Board.  
 
It was highlighted that each of the seven corporate parenting principles had been 
evaluated analysing the strengths, challenges and what needed to happen. 
Feedback from this engagement would form the basis of the Corporate Parenting 
Action plan and be reviewed annually. 
 
Resolved: 

That Corporate Parenting Board approve the Corporate Parenting Strategy 
2022-2025. 

 
12 Performance Monitoring Information 

 
Jazmine Walker, Head of Children and Young People in Care presented the 
Performance Monitoring Information Report and highlighted salient points. The report 
provided an update on service performance as at 30 September 2021 and questions 
were invited. 
 
A query was raised around the information on page 70 of the reports pack relating to 
the status of care leavers in education, employment and training (EET) and how the 
statistics could be improved upon. Assurances were offered that, since the report 
was published, the percentage had risen to 60% which if maintained would mean the 
outturn was higher than in 2019 - 2020.  
 
It was reported that care leaver engagement in EET had shown some improvement 
since the end of 2020 and Wolverhampton had one of the lowest youth 
unemployment rates in the country. EET was considered a priority and there had 
been extensive work embedding support into the Council’s care leaver offer including 
appointing dedicated staff to advise and offer support to care leavers.  
 
Resolved: 

That the Performance Monitoring Information Report be received. 
 

Page 8



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

13 Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
Resolved: 

That in accordance with Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business as it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information contained in 
paragraph 2 of the Act, namely information that is likely to reveal the identity to 
an individual. 

 
14 Councillor Visits to Establishments - Schedule of Visits 

 
No visits had been undertaken since the last meeting of the Board however members 
were asked to email Jazmine Walker, Head of Children and Young People in Care to 
register interest. 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

  

 

Corporate Parenting Board 
27 January 2022 

  
Report title Schedule of Outstanding Matters 
  

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility 

Councillor Beverley Momenabadi 
Children and Young People 

Wards affected All wards 

Accountable director Emma Bennett, Executive Director of Families 

Originating service Governance 

Accountable employee Shelley 

Humphries 

Tel 

Email 

Democratic Services Officer 

 

01902 554070 

shelley.humphries@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

 

Recommendation for action: 

 

The Corporate Parenting Board is recommended to: 

 

1.  Receive and comment on the Schedule of Outstanding Matters. 

 

  

Page 11

Agenda Item No: 5



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

1.0 Purpose 

 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to appraise the Board of the current position with a variety of 

 matters considered at previous meetings of the Corporate Parenting Board. 

 

2.0 Background 

 

2.1 At previous meetings of the Board the following matters were considered and details of 

 the current position is set out in the fourth column of the table. 

 

Date of 

Meeting 

Subject Lead Member / 

Officer 

Current Position 

10 June 2021 That young people be 
invited to participate and 
provide feedback in a 
meeting of the Strategic 
Health Steering Group. 
 

Michelle 

Cummings, 

Corporate 

Parenting Officer 

Dates are in the 

process of being 

confirmed. 

25 November 

2021 

That a health assessment 
appointment reminder 
system be explored and 
an update provided at the 
next meeting of 
Corporate Parenting 
Board. 

Jazmine Walker, 

Head of Service 

Children and 

Young People in 

Care 

Health colleagues 

now call foster 

carers to book 

appointments 

rather than send 

an appointment. 

The appointments 

are shared with the 

foster carers 

Supervising Social 

Worker to remind 

carers during their 

supervision. 

25 November 

2021 

Information on 
apprenticeships for young 
people with special 
educational needs and/or 
disabilities (SEND) would 
be collated and provided 
at the next meeting of 
Corporate Parenting 
Board. 
 

Jazmine Walker, 

Head of Service 

Children and 

Young People in 

Care 

The Authority has 

recruited two 

inclusive 

apprentices who 

have SEND in 

2020 - 2021. 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 12



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

3.0 Financial implications 

 

3.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

 

3.2 The financial implications of each matter will be detailed in the individual report submitted 

to the Board.  

 

4.0 Legal implications 

 

4.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. 

 

4.2 The legal implications of each matter will be detailed in the individual report submitted to 

the Board.  

 

5.0 Equalities implications 

 

5.1 There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report. 

 

5.2 The equalities implications of each matter will be detailed in the individual report 

submitted to the Board.  

 

6.0 Any other implications 

 

6.1 There are no other implications arising from this report. 

 

7.0 Schedule of background papers 

7.1 Minutes of previous meetings of the Corporate Parenting Board and associates. 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

  

 

Corporate Parenting Board 
27 January 2022 

  
Report title Virtual School Head Annual Report 2021 
  

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility 

Councillor Beverley Momenabadi 
Children and Young People 

Wards affected All wards 

Accountable director Emma Bennett, Executive Director of Families 

Originating service Inclusion and Attendance 

Accountable employee Darren 

Martindale 

Tel 

Email 

Service Manager 

 

01902 556951 

darren.martindale@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

Report has been 

considered by 

 

 

 

Children and Young People in Care 

Management Team 

Education and Children’s Leadership Team 

Inclusion and Attendance Management 

Team 

22 December 2021 

 

7 January 2022 

5 January 2022 

   

 

Recommendation for action: 

 

The Corporate Parenting Board is recommended to: 

 

1. Receive the Virtual School Head Annual Report 2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 15

Agenda Item No: 7



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

1.0 Purpose 

1.1 The Corporate Parenting Board is recommended to receive the Virtual School Head 

Annual Report 2021. 

2.0 Background 

2.1 To inform Corporate Parenting Board of the educational progress and achievements of 

our Children and Young People in Care, and previously in care, the steps that the local 

authority has taken to support those achievements, and priorities for future work. 

3.0 Cohort Information  

3.1 At autumn term 2021: 

 Total pupils (Reception – Year 11)     394 

 Placed in Wolverhampton      199 

 Placed out of City        195 

 Primary phase        147 

 Secondary phase        247 

 Attending Pupil Referral Units (PRUs)     10 

 Attending Special Schools     66 

 Attending other alternative provision    3 

 Secure Accommodation       1 

 Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCP)    108 

 SEND support       104 

 Boys          224 

 Girls          170 

 Total ethnic groups       14 

 Non-White British        38% 

3.2 Among the children and young people in care with Education, Health and Care Plans 

(EHCPs), social, emotional and mental health (SEMH) difficulty is by far the most 

prevalent category of need, accounting for 50% of this cohort (6% higher than 2020). 

The prevalence of each category of need is outlined in the chart below. 

   

 

EHCP  Categories of need 

Cognition & Learning - 34 Communication & Interaction - 18

Sensory and/or Physical Needs - 6 SEMH - 50

Page 16



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

4.0 School Ofsted Ratings 

4.1 Statutory guidance states that Children and Young People in Care should attend schools 

 that are rated as either or Good or Outstanding by Ofsted.1 At November 2019, 85% of 

children and young people in care attend a school which is rated as good or better by 

Ofsted, which is a 1% higher than 2019. The ratings are summarised in the chart below:

   
  

5.0 Supporting learning and achievement 

5.1 Wolverhampton’s Virtual School team are committed to improving educational outcomes 

for children and young people in care, and previously in care, in accordance with the 

council’s statutory duties in this regard.2 We achieve this through a combination of direct, 

advisory, and strategic work with children, schools, social workers, carers and other 

partners.  

5.2 The team promotes the educational achievement of children and young people in care in 

a variety of ways. Key areas, in line with statutory guidance, include: 

 Regular meetings with Designated Teachers in schools 

 Supporting and improving the Personal Educational Planning process 

 Tracking attendance, exclusions, attainment, and progress 

 Providing direct learning support to pupils 

 Providing advice and training, together with robust challenge and support to schools and 

social care 

 Interventions and wider activities to promote learning and raise aspirations 

 
5.3 During the spring term 2021, while schools were partially closed due to the COVID19 

pandemic, the virtual school team provided ongoing support both to children and young 

                                            
1 Promoting the education of looked-after and previously looked-after children - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
2 Promoting the education of looked-after and previously looked-after children - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Ofsted ratings of schools attended by Children and Young 
People in Care 

Outstanding - 16% Good - 69%

Requires Improvement - 13% Inadequate -1%

Excellent (independent) - 0.25% Meets requirements (independent) - 0.25%

Awaiting outcome - 0.5%

Page 17

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-education-of-looked-after-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-education-of-looked-after-children


This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

people in care, as we had during the summer 2020 lockdown period. Attendance was 

monitored and supported for children who had been identified by their social workers as 

needing to attend school, and further support provided those who were accessing remote 

learning at home.  

5.4 This support included utilising Pupil Premium+ proactively and flexibly to address any 

barriers or gaps in learning, maximising attendance at PEP meetings and ensuring that 

the pupils’ voice was included (some children preferred the ‘virtual’ meeting format 

conducted via MS Teams), helping to strengthen home-school communication and being 

a constant source of advice and support for Designated Teachers, as well as advice for 

carers in how to support education at home. 

5.5 Compliments for the support offered by the Virtual School team from schools and other 

partners in 2020-2021 have included: 

 “We all want the best for X and likewise your support and team have been incredible 

during this time” – Head Teacher of a special school 

 “I thought the ARC conference today was excellent” – Head Teacher of a primary 

school 

 I have had a wonderful experience working with X…. I just wanted her to be 

recognised, for her hard work of going the extra mile to help our young people. In our 

busy and pressured environment at times we fail to acknowledge one another, and I 

felt honoured to work with X – social worker. 

5.6 In addition, the VSH works closely with the Education, Employment and Training (EET) 

Co-ordinator, further education settings and other colleagues in Skills and Employability 

teams to promote the EET of children and young people in care at post-16 and care 

leavers. The support offered to this cohort includes: 

 Designated officers in local colleges and a Virtual School 16+ partnership agreement 

in place 

 Dedicated Connexions Advisor to ensure quality IAG 

 Strong support from Young People’s Advisors, working alongside Job Centre Plus 

Work Coaches 

 EET Coordinator and EET Apprentice deliver direct support to CAYPIC/care leavers, 

new additional EET worker currently being recruited 

 Weekly EET drop-in service for young people 

 Close links with partnership with Black County Impact, Talent Match & Department of 

Work and Pensions with designated officers in each service 

 Monthly EET panels to agree plans and support for young people who are NEET 

 Bespoke work experience opportunities and five ring fenced apprenticeship 

opportunities 

 Partnership working with the Care Leaver Covenant 

 For young people in Higher Education (HE) - support with UCAS, personal 

statements, SFE, offered twice-yearly visits by EET Coordinator and dedicated HE  

Page 18



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 PEP. CWC is a member of the NNECL HE forum Ongoing support while at university 

and offers post graduate employment support. Wolves at work also offer post-

graduation support to our care leavers. 

6.0 Raising Aspirations – Aspire2Uni 

6.1 Aspire2Uni (A2U) is an innovative partnership project between Wolverhampton 

University and four ‘virtual schools’ for children and young people in care around the 

Black Country – Wolverhampton, Sandwell, Walsall and Staffordshire. A2U is a long-

term, intensive, progressive programme designed to raise the aspirations and support 

the achievement of children in care. Research shows that children and young people in 

care and care leavers do not regard Higher Education (HE) as a natural course and will 

often be looked after by adults who have little experience of HE themselves, or indeed 

an understanding of the value of HE or further training.  

 

6.2 Higher education and training be a critical step to enhanced life opportunity, wellbeing, 

and economic independence. In this context, Aspire2Uni has two underpinning goals:  

 

 To raise aspirations (and increase knowledge) 

 To break down barriers, and improve progression, to Higher Education 

 

6.3 The programme supports children at secondary stage and beyond, who reach the 

expected attainment in core subjects at the end of Key Stage 2 or have the potential to 

reach that level but perhaps underachieve. It completed its sixth year in 2021. At the 

end of the 2020-2021 academic year, there were 33 children from Wolverhampton on 

the programme. 21 of these were at Key Stage 3, 10 were at Key Stage 4 and 2 were in 

year 12. The VSH provides strategic oversight of the project from Wolverhampton’s 

perspective, while one of the Virtual School Support Officers acts as an operational lead 

 

 6.4  There are three elements to the programme: 

a. Outreach - a series of university visits and other events, designed to raise 

aspirations, break down barriers and inform progression to higher education. The 

COVID19 pandemic has presented challenges in this regard, but a programme of 

largely ‘virtual’ or online events have been offered in response to the pandemic. 

 

b. Mentoring - a dedicated mentor is allocated to the young person and works with 

either once per week or once per fortnight. Group mentoring sessions are also 

utilised, for example, for some older students who have been accessing A2U 

mentoring for a long time and are ready to move on to a different form of support. 

Though mentoring was historically delivered in the home, during the COVID19 

pandemic it has been taking place largely via a secure online mentoring platform 

called Brightside. While online mentoring is helpful for some young people and 

certain situations, many of the participants benefit from face-to-face mentoring and 

participation in mentoring and other events has reduced during the pandemic. The 

A2U team are working hard on returning pupil engagement to the previous high 

levels, however. 

 Page 19



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

Several mentors have been with the programme since the outset, have graduated 

the University and are now working as mentors in various schools and 

organisations. One is employed as an Education Support Officer by 

Wolverhampton Virtual School.  

 
c. Work Experience and Enrichment - Working with local businesses, arranges 

high quality, bespoke work placements and group visits to local employers such 

as Jaguar Land Rover. In addition, the project offers enrichment experiences such 

as visits to the theatre or outward-bound experiences, to broaden students’ 

horizons and build their confidence.  

 

6.5 The table below illustrates the percentage of A2U participants from Wolverhampton who 

are at age-related expectation core subjects in each year group. The percentages are 

high, even given the fact that pupils with SEND usually do not participate in the project. 

 

Cohort English Maths English & 
Maths 

Year 8 at age-related expectation 100% 86% 86% 

Year 9 at age-related expectation 57% 71% 43% 

Year 10 predicted to achieve a 
grade 4 or above at GCSE  

100% 67% 67% 

Year 11 Achieved Grade 4 or 
above at GCSE 

83% 83% 83% 

Year 11 achieved Grade 5 or 
above at GCSE 

50% 67% 33% 

 

6.6 A2U was nominated for the Children in Care award at the 2021 Children & Young People 

Now awards, for a submission that was made on behalf of Wolverhampton Virtual School 

and participants from Wolverhampton. 
 

7.0 Personal Education Plans (PEPs) 

7.1 It is a statutory requirement of local authorities to ensure that all children and young 

people in care have a quality, up-to-date Personal Education Plan (PEP). At the end of 

June 2021, 92% of the cohort had a PEP completed within statutory timescales. A further 

breakdown of PEP completion rates revealed: 

 95% of children in early years had an up-to-date PEP 

 98% of school-aged children had an up-to-date PEP 

 44% of young people in care in years 12 and 13 had an up-to-date PEP 

 

 

 

Page 20



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

7.2 A monthly breakdown of PEP completion rates for all three measures is illustrated in the 

chart below. 

 

7.3 The low completion rate for post-16 PEPs has since been addressed (it was partly due to 

recording issues on the Eclipse system) and, though it is still lower than for the rest of the 

cohort, it has increased significantly. 

7.4 The Virtual School Team complete audits of PEPs on a termly basis, focussing 

specifically on two key areas: (1) whether the individualised learning targets contained in 

the PEP are SMART (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic and Time-related) and 

(2) whether the Pupil Premium Plus is being effectively utilised for the pupil, as recorded 

in the PEP. 

7.5 Of the 235 Personal Education Plan that were audited in the summer term 2021: 

 84% had SMART targets (3% higher than summer 2020) 

 79% demonstrated appropriate and effective use of Pupil Premium Plus (2% higher 

than 2020) 

7.6 The Virtual School team report, anecdotally, that PEP quality has improved since the 

form has been fully electronic and part of the Eclipse data management system. All 

important information - for example prior attendance, attainment, and progress data - is 

included as a mandatory field, helping to ensure that the plan contained a complete and 

holistic picture of the pupil’s educational progress and achievement, strengths and 

needs. In addition, the team regularly provide information, advice and training to schools 

and social workers on ensuring good PEP quality. 

 

 

 

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

2020
September

2020,
October

2020,
November

2020,
December

2021,
January

2021,
February

2021,
March

2021, April 2021, May 2021, June

PEP Report 2020/21

Early Years School Age Year 12 & 13 PEP in Timescale

Page 21



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

8.0 Pupil Premium Plus 

8.1 The Pupil Premium Plus (PP+) is the main form of financial support for local authorities to 

promote the education of children in care, in accordance with their statutory duty in this 

regard (DfE 2014, updated 2018). The PP+ is allocated to local authorities at a rate of 

£2345 per pupil, per annum, and is managed by the Virtual Head. 

8.2 Most of the grant is allocated to schools, to support the individualised learning targets of 

their pupils in care. This is monitored through the PEP process and by the Virtual School 

Team, in their scrutiny of PEPs and continual work with schools and social workers. 

£1700 has been allocated to schools for each child and young person in care, in termly 

instalments, in 2020-2021. 

8.3 The remainder is utilised on a range of projects, interventions, and resources to target 

support where it is most needed, and to support the strategic priorities of the Virtual 

School. These include Aspire2Uni, Beanstalk Volunteer Reading Help, Welfare Call (see 

(see 3.7) and continuous professional development for Designated Teachers. The grant 

also funds the staffing of the Virtual School Team, other than the Virtual School Head’s 

post. 

8.4 Following changes introduced under the Children and Social Work Act 2017, an 

additional, smaller grant was allocated to local authorities to support the extension of the 

VSH’s role to provide information and advice around children who have left care via an 

adoption, special guardianship, or child arrangements order. £30,000 has been allocated 

to Wolverhampton for this purpose in 2020-2021. This funding is utilised to support the 

work of the virtual school generally, including advice and training around the needs of this 

wider cohort, rather than utilised to fund (for example) a dedicated post. Some PPG-

funded resources, such as Britannica School online learning, have been made available 

to adopters and the take-up of this has been very good. 

9.0 Attendance 

9.1 The Virtual School team monitors the school attendance of all of Wolverhampton’s 

children and young people in care by scrutinising PEPs and half-termly attendance 

reports and ensure that any emerging attendance issues are addressed without delay by 

working closely with designated teachers, education welfare officers, social workers, and 

carers. Attendance monitoring is also supported by daily telephone calls to all out-of-City 

schools by ‘Welfare Call’, a service funded by Pupil Premium Plus, which provides 

regular reports and helps to ensure that children and young people in care who are 

educated outside Wolverhampton (and are therefore potentially more vulnerable) benefit 

from even closer monitoring than those in Wolverhampton schools. 

9.2 The importance of good school attendance is highlighted in training and supervision for 

carers, and in the relevant council policies. Carers are expected and supported to talk to 

children about how they feel about school, particularly if they have recently started at a 

new school, and raise any concerns with school staff, social care and/or the virtual school  

 

Page 22



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

immediately. Where there are issues, if appropriate, the PEP will be reviewed urgently. 

An Educational Psychologist (EP), Education Welfare Officer (EWO) and/or other 

appropriate professionals will be consulted and involved to ensure a robust, multi-

disciplinary response. 

9.3 The small number of children and young people in care on modified timetables are 

monitored closely by the Virtual School Team, who help to ensure that pupils receive an 

appropriate offer of full-time education. If a modified timetable or attendance at an 

alternative education provision becomes necessary for an individual pupil, the team 

ensure that provision is regularly reviewed and remains appropriate to the child’s 

strengths and needs, with appropriate progression plans in place. 

9.4 Attendance is generally high for the cohort. However, COVID19 has inevitably had an 

impact, though children and young people in care and other vulnerable pupils, were 

closely monitored and supported throughout both partial lockdown periods, either to help 

them to engage with online learning, or to cope with the changing demands in school. In 

the cases of the minority of pupils in care who were not attending school during the 

January-March ‘lockdown’ period, the decision as to whether attendance should be 

expected or not was made by social workers in discussions with carers and with support 

from the Virtual School Team. Further help, advice and resources were offered to 

teachers, carers and pupils during and after pupils fully returned to school, supporting 

them with the challenges of transition. 

9.5 The chart below illustrates how attendance was affected by COVID19 by showing the 

overall attendance for the whole of academic year, alongside attendance during the 

partial closure of school between January and March 2021, and attendance levels before 

and after that period. Attendance was slightly higher for pupils in Wolverhampton schools 

than for the out-of-City cohort, which reflects the generally higher levels of vulnerability of 

the latter cohort and therefore the greater likelihood of them needing to self-isolate for 

certain periods. Attendance dropped slightly after 8 March, though it improved throughout 

the spring and summer and remained high for most pupils. 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Overall attendance Attendance Autumn Attendance 4 Jan-8 March Attendance after 8 March

Attendance of children & young people in care 2020-21

In city Out of city All pupilsPage 23



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

9.6 An analysis of persistent absence (pupils with less than 90% attendance) shows that this 

became higher after schools reopened on 8 March 2021, however, as highlighted by the 

table below which compares persistent absence between those two periods. 

Cohort Autumn term 2020 8 March 2020 – end of term 2021 

In City 13% 19% 

OOC 14% 24% 

All pupils 13% 22% 

 

9.7 This is an unacceptable level of persistent absence, though it has undoubtedly been 

affected by challenges related to COVID19. The Virtual School team are ensuring a 

particularly keen focus on attendance and persistent absence in 2021-2022, and 

continue to support pupils, schools, social workers, and carers to promote good school 

attendance while ensuring that vulnerable pupils and carers are kept safe.  

10.0 Inclusion 

10.1 There were no permanent exclusions for Wolverhampton children and young people in 

care in 2020-2021. Permanent exclusions are extremely rare for Wolverhampton children 

and young people in care – one in 2019-2020, none in 2018-2019, one in 2017-2018, two 

in 2016-2017 and one in 2015-2016. This is a notable outcome (statistically, children in 

care are far more likely to be excluded than their peers) which reflects the concentrated 

work of the Virtual School in conjunction with schools, social care, and other key 

partners, in preventing exclusions, promoting inclusive practice, and ensuring that the 

right support is in place for children and young people in care. 

 

10.2 A total of 67 suspensions (previously known as fixed term exclusions) were issued to 

Wolverhampton children and young people in care in 2019-2020. 36 of these were in 

Wolverhampton schools and 31 in schools outside of Wolverhampton. 49 pupils received 

one or more suspensions. Out-of-City pupils lost more days due to suspensions, 

however, so had longer periods of suspension on average - 102 days were lost due to 

suspension for out-of-City pupils, compared to 76 days for pupils in Wolverhampton 

schools. 

 

10.3 The overall figure of 67 suspensions is 13 more than in 2019-2020, but 2019-2020 

figures were affected by the partial closure of schools during the summer term and the 

limited low numbers of pupils in care who were attending during that period. It also 

maintains the significant reduction of suspensions compared to previous years (there 

were 163 suspensions in 2018-2019, for example). 

 
10.4 The table below summarises the reasons for suspensions. Persistent disruptive 

behaviour is the most common reason, in line with all pupils, though it closely followed by 

physical assault against a pupil. The latter has increased, as a percentage of 

suspensions, which could indicate increasing difficulties around children’s mental health 

and wellbeing and challenges related to COVID19. While it has been reported and 

understood by colleagues within Wolverhampton schools, social care and the Virtual 

School team, that many of our children and young people in care benefitted from the  

Page 24



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

‘lockdown’ periods, giving them more time to cement relationships with carers and spend 

time as part of a family, this will remain an area of increased focus in our work with young 

people, designated teachers, carers and social care. 

 

11.0 School Transition and Stability 

11.1 Research shows that children and young people in care who changed school in Years 10 

or 11 scored over five grades less than those who did not.3  The Virtual School works 

closely with social workers, schools, and carers to maintain existing school placements, 

wherever possible and appropriate. If a change of school is the best option, then the 

team helps to support a successful transition for those pupils through joined-up working 

with schools and other key partners. 

11.2 Social workers should consult the Virtual School Head prior to any change of school for a 

pupil in care, so that advice can be given as to the suitability of any potential school 

placement. This requirement is highlighted in PEP training, as well as in 

Wolverhampton’s Education Policy for Children and Young People in Care and our Model 

School Policy, which is in the process of being updated to incorporate the recent 

extension to the VSH role to include all children with a social worker4. The team provide 

support for children and young people in care if they do have to move schools, ensuring 

a successful transition through 1:1 support, in-class support and close partnership 

working with all key agencies. 

11.3 The transition from primary to secondary school, for example, can be particularly 

challenging for many children and young people in care. The Virtual School team ensure 

that all are supported with a successful transition through meetings with year 6 pupils and 

                                            
3  http://reescentre.education.ox.ac.uk/wordpress/wp-
content/uploads/2015/12/EducationalProgressLookedAfterChildrenKeyMessages_Nov2015.pdf 
4 Virtual school head role extension to children with a social worker - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45

Suspensions for children and young people in care in the 2020-
2021 academic year 

No of exclusions No of children No of days

Page 25

http://reescentre.education.ox.ac.uk/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/EducationalProgressLookedAfterChildrenKeyMessages_Nov2015.pdf
http://reescentre.education.ox.ac.uk/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/EducationalProgressLookedAfterChildrenKeyMessages_Nov2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/virtual-school-head-role-extension-to-children-with-a-social-worker


This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

their teachers, and follow-up meetings in their new secondary school before and after 

secondary induction sessions. We also help to ensure that children are given their 

preferred choice of secondary school and offer advice on the most appropriate schools 

choice. Out-of-City pupils are given additional information and advice by a dedicated 

Education Support Officer. 

12.0   GCSE Attainment  

12.1 The following outcomes relate to young people that the Department for Education class 

as ‘eligible’, i.e., they had been in care for 12 months or more at 31 March 2021. 2020 

and 2019 outcomes are also included for comparison 

12.2 The table below outlines the percentage of pupils in this cohort who achieved grade 4 and above 
in core subjects at GCSE in 2021. 

   

Cohort (number) English Maths Eng & maths Eng & maths 2020 Eng & maths 2019 

In-City (17) 35% 35% 29% 29% 6% 

Out of City (37) 32% 35% 30% 20% 22% 

All pupils (54) 35% 35% 30% 25% 16% 

 
12.3 The table below outlines the percentage of pupils in this cohort who achieved grade 5 and 

above in core subjects at GCSE in 2021. 
 

Cohort (number) English Maths Eng & maths Eng & maths 2020 Eng & maths 2019 

In-City (17) 18% 35% 18% 17% 6% 

Out of City (37) 27% 22% 16% 0% 22% 

All pupils (54) 24% 26% 17% 9% 16% 

 

12.4 Achievement at GCSE for our children and young people in care has risen significantly in 

recent years. The 2021 figure of 30% achieving grade four and above is the highest that 

Wolverhampton has achieved since 2014 for Wolverhampton in 2014. The percentage of 

pupils achieving grade 5 has also risen in 2021 and is higher than the percentage that 

achieved grade four in 2019. 

12.5 It is likely that improved outcomes in 2021 and 2020 have been supported by schools 

adopting more flexible approaches to assessment, as a response to pupils missing 

schooling due to the COVID19 pandemic. The strong and consistent support that pupils 

received before, during and after the partial closure of schools in 2020 and 2021, 

however, is also likely to have contributed to improved results. 

12.6 It is also notable that 74% of the cohort had an identified special educational need. 41% 

had an Education, Health & Care Plan (EHCP) while 33% were at SEN support level - 

higher than average for children and young people in care. 20% attended special 

schools. 

13.0 Post-16 Achievement 

13.1 98% of children and young people in care in year 11 progressed into education, 

employment and training (EET) in autumn 2021; our highest ever percentage for year 11 

progression. Page 26



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

13.2 Of the 85 young people in year 12 and 13 in 2021, 40 achieved one or more 

qualifications, 20 progressed on to the next year/level of study and two failed their 

courses. Of the remaining 23 young people, 16 were not in education, employment or 

training (NEET), one was not available to the labour market (NALM) and six were 

employed. 

13.3 Between the 40 young people who were in further education (FE) and achieved one or 

more qualifications: 

 Nine achieved entry level qualifications 

 16 achieved Level One qualifications 

 Eight achieved Level Two qualifications 

 Seven achieved Level Three qualifications (‘A’ level or equivalent) 

 Seven achieved GCSEs 

 Seven started a university course 

13.4 The type and level of qualifications achieved is illustrated in the chart below. 

 

13.5 It is noticeable, however, that female students achieved a significantly higher percentage 

of Level Three qualifications – 33%, compared to 9% of male students – while 63% of 

male students achieved Level One and Two (GCSE equivalent) compared to 33% of 

females. A higher percentage of male students also achieve Level One and Two (the 

lowest level of qualification), though similar proportions achieved entry Three level 

certification. Girls tend to achieve somewhat higher than boys at statutory school age, as 

a percentage of children and young people in care. The above data represents a 

continuation and widening of that imbalance, however. This will be an area of focus for 

the Virtual School Head and colleagues in social care and further education providers in 

2021-2022 and beyond. Page 27



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

13.6 Wolverhampton’s care leavers continue to achieve well in higher education (HE). Three 

young people achieved degree-level qualifications in 2021. Two of these graduated with 

first class honours and one achieved an alternative level 5 qualification. 

13.7 Wolverhampton currently have 31 care leavers in higher education. As a percentage of 

the cohort, this is well above the generally accepted national average of 6%. 

14.0 Participation 

14.1 Wolverhampton has a very strong and well-established Children in Care Council (CiCC) 

which benefits from close links with the Youth Council, and with elected members via the 

Corporate Parenting Board. The CiCC is actively involved in Participation at a regional 

and national level, enabling our children and young people in care to act as a real force 

for change and the improvement of services. This report is shared and discussed with the 

CiCC as well as with Corporate Parenting Board.  

14.2 Work has been ongoing to strengthen young people’s contribution their PEPs, to ensure 

the plan is properly informed by their views and is meaningful to them. During the partial 

closure of schools, many PEP meetings were held online via Microsoft Teams and it was 

felt that this enabled a fuller contribution from some young people who enjoyed the online 

format more than face-to-face meetings in school. Other tools, such as more child-

friendly versions of the section of the PEP form which captures the young person’s 

contribution, tailored to different ages and ability levels, have also been trialled with some 

success. As a result, Designated Teachers are advised on a range of flexible approaches 

to completing PEPs, in order to maximise pupils’ engagement. 

15.0 Strategic and Advisory Development 

15.1 The Virtual School Head’s role includes strengthening the awareness of key 

professionals around the needs of children and young people in care, building strong 

working partnerships and developing policy and procedure in this area. This involves a 

combination of advisory and strategic work with a range of agencies. 

15.2 In 2020-2021, the following training sessions were delivered by the Virtual School Team: 

 Two sessions on the early years PEP for social workers 

 Three sessions on the post-16 electronic PEP for social workers 

 Two session on supporting education for carers 

 One training event on the role of the Designated Teacher 

 Three termly Designated Teacher forum meetings 

 Two sessions on attachment / trauma for Designated Teachers 

 Funded places for Designated Teachers on the Attachment Research Community 

(ARC) annual conference, and membership of ARC 

15.3 The Virtual School team also provide information and advice in relation to supporting the 

education of children and young people who have left care via an adoption, special 

guardianship or child arrangements order receive additional support with their education, 

as set out in the Children and Social Work Act 2017. This duty is covered in Designated 

Teachers training and further training is made available to schools.  

Page 28



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

The Virtual School team regularly respond to requests for advice and information 

regarding the education of children previously in care, from schools, adoptive parents / 

special guardians and social care, particularly with regard to the use of the Pupil 

Premium Plus for this cohort. 

15.4 A Virtual School Stakeholder Group was initiated in the summer term 2021, chaired by 

the VSH and involving representatives from schools and key local authority partners. The 

group helps to provide scrutiny and oversight of the virtual school’s activities, including 

those of its key partners and stakeholders, and to develop and drive forward the virtual 

school’s attainment improvement plan and strategic priorities. 

15.5 The Virtual School team have continued to promote effective joined-up working between 

teams and partners services that support the education of vulnerable children. The VSH’s 

wider role as a service manager for vulnerable learners, including attendance, EHE and 

elective home education (EHE), has continued to help facilitate better collaborative 

working and the appropriate sharing of information. School exclusions for all pupils have 

continued to fall, while the engagement of electively home educating parents has 

improved to over 90% engagement, despite significant rises in EHE numbers after the 

first ‘lockdown’ due to COVID19. 

15.6 In June 2020 the DfE announced funding and published non-statutory guidance to extend 

the role of the Virtual School Head to all children with a social worker or who have ever 

had a social worker, so that more vulnerable children in every local authority can benefit 

from the support and leadership of a VSH.5 This extended role, incorporating children on 

children in need and child protection plans, includes enhancing partnerships between 

social care and education settings, highlighting the barriers that young people in this 

cohort can face, and providing advice on effective, evidence-based approaches to 

narrowing the achievement gap. Work is underway in response to this new duty, 

including the recruitment of a new Inclusion and Attendance Manager which will enable 

the Virtual Head to focus purely on virtual school activities and properly incorporate this 

wider responsibility, and a dedicated School Improvement Officer. 

16.0   Conclusion 

16.1 2021 has been another unusual and challenging year for all. The Virtual School Team, 

alongside schools and other partners, has worked very hard to support our children and 

young people in care, despite the additional challenges that have been presented by the 

COVID19 pandemic, helping to find new ways to engage with young people and ensure 

continuity of support. 

16.2 Once again, there is much to celebrate regarding the educational achievement of the 

children in our care. A very small percentage of Children and Young People in Care are 

attending schools which are rated as requiring improvement or inadequate by Ofsted. 

Temporary exclusions continue to decrease and there were no permanent exclusions for 

pupils in care in 2020-2021. Attainment has improved significantly at Key Stage 4 for the 

third year running, with our best-ever GCSE results, and notable successes at post-16 

including a high number of care leavers attending and achieving at university.  Personal 

                                            
5 Virtual school head role extension to children with a social worker - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Page 29

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/virtual-school-head-role-extension-to-children-with-a-social-worker


This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

educational planning is generally strong, with the introduction of the Eclipse electronic 

PEP continuing to support improving quality. Our schools and other partners have a good 

understanding of their corporate parenting responsibilities. The positive impact of the 

Virtual School Team’s interventions on educational stability, as well as so-called ‘soft 

outcomes’, such as children’s confidence, self-esteem and attitude to learning, is also 

reflected in positive feedback from schools, carers and social care. 

16.3 At the same time, however, there are always areas for development. There are issues 

around school attendance for some pupils, though this is a minority and COVID-19 has 

clearly presented additional challenges in this area despite the strong support provided. 

PEP quality, though good overall, could still improve further and completion rates of post-

16 PEPs still needs to be improved. It has not been possible to report on attainment and 

progress at early years and primary phase in 2020, or on attainment 8 / progress 8, and 

these areas will be prioritised going forward. The Virtual Head is becoming more actively 

involved with the regional network and National Association of Virtual School Heads 

(NAVSH), but there is still a need to develop this further to ensure that Wolverhampton 

stays abreast of new developments and research, as we continue to strive to improve the 

life chances of children and young people in care and previously in care. 

17.0 Financial implications 

17.1    There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  

[TS/04012022/U].  

18.0 Legal implications 

18.1 The Local Authority’s statutory responsibilities are set out in the body of the report. 

18.2 There are no direct legal implications arising from the report.  

[TC/21122021/D] 

19.0 Equalities implications 

19.1 An equalities analysis will be undertaken if required, in partnership with the Equalities 

and Diversities Team. As the work that underpins this strategy is to overcome any 

inequality, the analysis is aspirational and will need to be used to evaluate the 

effectiveness of the work undertaken. 

20.0 All other Implications 

20.1 There are no other implications, including health & wellbeing or COVID-19 implications.  
 

 

 

Page 30



wolverhampton.gov.uk

Children and Young People’s 

Sufficiency and 
Commissioning Strategy 
2021-2024

Children on the Edge of Care, Children and Young 
People in Care, Care Leavers and aspects of Children 
and Young People with Special Educational Needs 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 N
o: 8



2 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Contents

Produced by CYP Commissioning Team in conjunction  
with the Children’s Services Leadership Team

Contents

1  
Indroduction                                  3 

 
2  
Vision                                             5 

 
3  
Corporate Parenting Pledge           7 

 
4  
Sufficiency Information & Analysis  9 

 
5  
Our Approach to Ensuring  
Sufficiency                                   14 

 

6  
Our Children & Young People’s  
Voices                                          20 

 
7  
Strategic Commissioning  
for Children and Young People     30 

 
8  
Risk Based Contract 
Management                               38 

 
9  
Governance for Sufficiency and 
Commissioning                            40 

P
age 32



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 3wolverhampton.gov.uk

Introduction

Introduction

This Strategy serves as a single plan that covers requirements for the Children 
in Care Sufficiency Duty and the Children in Care Strategy.  

Under the Children Act 1989, a child is legally defined as ‘in care’ by a local 
authority if he or she: 

• Is provided with accommodation for a continuous period for more than 
24hours under S.20 (voluntary agreement with parent or with the young 
person if he/she is over 16 years old) 

• Is subject to a care order (made by the Family Court); or  

• Is subject to a Police Protection Order, Emergency Protection Order or 
Remand 

• Is subject to a placement order (pre-adoption) 

• Within this document we will refer to young people who meet these criteria 
as ‘children in care’ (CiC). 
 

The City of Wolverhampton Council is committed to improving the outcomes 
and life chances of the children and young people in our care. The Sufficiency 
Strategy uses placement data, feedback from our operational teams and 
market intelligence to inform our market management activity.  

 

 

1

P
age 33



4 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Introduction

The Sufficiency Strategy is a statutory requirement set out in 
Section 22G of the Children’s Act 1989 (see Annex 1 for full 
wording) which requires local authorities to take strategic action in 
respect of those children they look after and for whom it would be 
consistent with their welfare for them to be provided with 
accommodation within their local authority area. In those 
circumstances, section 22G requires local authorities, so far as is 
reasonably practicable, to ensure that there is sufficient 
accommodation for those children that meets their needs and is 
within their local authority area. 

The Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy ensures that the 
Council: 

• Supports and maintains a range of services that meet the needs 
of children in care and those who, without support, might be 
accommodated. 

• Works with partners to ensure that only the children and young 
people who need to come into care are accommodated. 

• Supports the market to deliver appropriate placements within the 
Local Authority area. 

• Has the appropriate mechanisms in place for the commissioning 
of appropriate placements and additional support outside of the 
local area, where the child’s needs require this. 

A key element of this strategy is the Council’s desire to develop new 
models and improve placement stability. 
 
 
 

This Strategy is linked to the Wolverhampton’s following plans: 

• Corporate Parenting Strategy 2016-18 presents how we intend 
to improve the outcomes for our children and young people in 
care, those who are adopted and care leavers. It lists the actions 
that are to be completed during this period.  

• Care Leavers Strategy 2016-18 sets out how we will improve 
outcomes for this vulnerable group through improving pathway 
planning for all children in care and embedding the Barnardo’s 
Care Leaver’s Pathway. 

The strategy is set out over nine sections 

It brings together:  

2. Our vision 

4. Information and analysis  

5. Our approach 

The strategy also includes: 

6. ‘The voice of our children and young people’  

7. Strategic Commissioning 

8. Risk-based Contract Management; and  

9. Governance. 

The City of Wolverhampton Council will listening to the voice of 
children and young people, and this will be at the heart of what we 
do as we drive forwards the implementation of this strategy and a 
supplementary document will be produced identifying what is 
important to our Young People. 

P
age 34



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 5wolverhampton.gov.uk

Vision

Vision

Early Intervention, Specialist support services, and Restorative 
practice are our approaches to supporting people at the right 
time at the right level and to help us strengthen families where 
children are at risk. 

There is a clear vision that is shared across the Children and Young 
People in Care service which is focused on achieving permanence 
and stability for children. In May 2014, the Families R First 
Programme was introduced which put greater emphasis on tackling 
problems within the family unit and offering support at an earlier 
stage, preventing the need for children and young people to 
become looked after. This work, together with the co-location of 
early intervention and statutory social work teams and the 
introduction of a relational and strength based practice framework 
(Restorative Practice) has contributed to year on year reductions in 
the number of looked after children.  

We strive to ensure that there is a continuum of services to address 
the various and complex needs of children and families so that 
these families are supported to care for their own children and 
prevent unnecessary entry into care or repeat admissions.  

 

 

 

This includes the services below and we continue to explore 
further innovative ideas: 

• Intensive Family Support  

• Restorative Practice 

• Family Group Conferencing 

• Edge of Care Services 
 

The aim of any intervention is to achieve stability, improve parenting 
and family functioning in a way that keeps each child safe and 
allows that child to develop. Where this is not possible, we seek to 
provide high quality substitute care within family settings as near as 
possible to the child’s home to maintain links with birth parents and 
their communities.  

We are proud of our children and young people in Wolverhampton. 
We want the same for the children and young people in our care as 
any good parent would want for their child. We want our children to 
be healthy and happy in childhood. We want them to feel valued for 
who they are and to feel loved. We want them to enjoy learning and 
to have a good experience of education to help them fulfil their 
aspirations for the future.

2

P
age 35



The following will help drive and deliver our vision: 

6 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Vision

• We work collaboratively with families and our partners to 
support and enable children and young people to be cared for 
within their own families, wherever possible. 

• All children and families benefit from integrated and  
co-ordinated services enabling full participation in universal and 
mainstream services in their local communities. 

• A suite of Early Help services are used to support children on 
Child Protection Plans and their families and prevent entry into 
care. This includes Family Support teams, Think Family Service, 
Family Group Conferencing, Restorative Practice, Edge of Care 
interventions and other locally based, targeted services. 

• Direct social work interventions are used with families, to 
support those with parental responsibility to meet the needs of 
their children safely. 

• Through robust assessment, planning and case review, we 
ensure that we only look after those children and young people 
for whom being in care is the only way of ensuring their safety, 
protection and development. 

• We continue to work with those with parental responsibility to 
help a child in care return home safely wherever this is possible. 

• Where children cannot be cared for by their birth parents we 
provide placements in family settings, as close to the child’s 
home area as possible that meet each child’s individual needs. 

• Where children cannot return home, we aim to secure legal and 
emotional permanence, preferably through adoption, Special 
Guardianship, Family Arrangement Orders, or where this is not 
possible, Long Term Foster Care. 

• As we aim to place the vast majority of children within a family 
setting, we always maximise the use of internal fostering 
resources first before using local external fostering resources.  
We avoid using residential care except when it is the best way of 
providing support to meet a child’s complex therapeutic and 
educational needs. Children in care should be as physically and 
emotionally healthy as they can be and have access to the 
right health and leisure resources, opportunities for early years 
and statutory education and participation in further education, 
employment and training. 

• The needs of young people leaving care and those that have 
left care will be assessed and these young people should 
receive the appropriate level of support and advice to enable the 
transition to adulthood. This includes ‘staying put’ with their 
foster carer, access to suitable, high quality housing and 
opportunities to engage in education, employment and training. 

• Feedback is routinely sought from children, young people, 
parents and carers to inform any decisions made relating to 
service delivery to drive continuous improvement.

P
age 36



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 7wolverhampton.gov.uk

Corporate Parenting Pledge

Corporate Parenting Pledge

3

Our Pledge is: 
• To act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental 

health and well-being, of those children and young people 

• To encourage those children and young people to express their 
views, wishes and feelings 

• To take into account of the views, wishes and feelings of those 
children and young people 

• To help those children and young people gain access to, and make 
the best use of, services provided by the local authority and its 
relevant partners 

• To promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best 
outcomes, for those children and young people 

• For those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in 
their home lives, relationships and education or work 

• To prepare those children and young people for adulthood and 
independent living.

“The local authority takes its responsibilities as a 
corporate parent very seriously. The Children in 
Care Council and the care leavers’ forum have 
been influential in shaping the way in which 
services are developed and delivered.”  

Ofsted 

The concept of Corporate Parenting was introduced by 
the Government in 1998 as part of a drive to improve the 
lives of children who are looked after by the local authority.  

The Corporate Parenting responsibility was reiterated and 
reinforced in 2007 with the release of the White Paper 
Care Matters-Time for Change and the underpinning 
legislation, Children and Young People Act 2008. The 
Children and Social Work Act 2017 now compels local 
authorities to evidence how they meet the seven 
Corporate Parenting Principles as they are statutory in 
relation to looked after children and care leavers.

P
age 37



In order to ensure this success for children and young people 
in care or leaving care, the following questions will be used to 
scrutinise services and support: 

• What more can we do to ensure looked after children and care 
leavers feel listened to and their views are acted on? 

• To what extent are the needs and priorities of looked after 
children and care leavers reflected in local strategic needs 
assessments, local service provision, and development plans? 

• How can we collectively deliver services to looked after children 
and care leavers in a way that is joined-up and which supports 
young people to make a successful transition to adulthood?  

• Are the children and young people in our care enjoying happy, 
fulfilled childhoods and looking forward to their adult lives, with 
positive foundations and stable relationships? If not, why not and 
what can we do to address this? 

• How can we deliver services to looked after children and care 
leavers in a way that mirrors as far as possible the way a good 
parent would support their child? 

• How can we deliver services in a way that recognises the unique 
circumstances of looked after children and care leavers? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

The Corporate Parenting Board will use the above questions to 
monitor, evaluate and ensure the City is achieving the Corporate 
Parenting Principles to a high standard through an action plan. Both 
the Corporate Parenting Board and Strategic Group will be directed 
and challenged by the Children in Care Council and Care Leavers’ 
forum (who represent the care population of Wolverhampton), to 
ensure that the action plan is relevant and making the differences it 
is designed to achieve. 

8 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Corporate Parenting Pledge

P
age 38



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 9wolverhampton.gov.uk

Corporate Parenting Pledge

Sufficiency Information & Analysis 

Introduction 

The City of Wolverhampton, like many major cities nationwide, still 
has many children in need or who require protection. However, the 
number and rate of children in care (the most intensive level in 
intervention) are relatively stable after several years of rapid 
increases and the national rank of children in care has decreased 
after being second-highest at one point. In August 2020, there are 
582 children in care, 301 children who have a children protection 
plan and 733 children who are assessed as children in need. 

The proportion of care leavers who are in suitable accommodation 
rose in 2017 to be better than the English average. The current 
accommodation provisions for care leavers include transitions flats, 
host families, the House Project, commissioned supported 
accommodation through block contract and regional frameworks. 
The number of care leavers placed with external providers has 
reduced from 12 in June 2019 to 4 in August 2020.  

 

 

The last statutory assessment of Children’s Services in the City of 
Wolverhampton in January 2017, OFSTED rated the local authority 
as being ‘Good’. This was an improvement on the previous rating 
and can be attributed to new ways of working and commissioning, 
including better provision for children in care, and initiatives such as 
Edge of Care, Specialist Support and Family Group Conferences to 
prevent children at risk becoming in care. Another key innovation is 
the eight Strengthening Families Hubs across the City. They 
combine children’s centres with social work teams and health 
visitors, to provide targeted early invention services for families  
and children. 

4

P
age 39



Local Trends

10 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Sufficiency Information & Analysis 

Total Early Intervention, CiN, CP and CYPIC Population  
as rate per 10,000 children (0-17) in Wolverhampton

Wolverhampton CiN Rate and National Rank

Wolverhampton Repeat CP Rate and National Rank Wolverhampton CYPiC Rate and National Rank

P
age 40



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 11wolverhampton.gov.uk

Sufficiency Information & Analysis 

Best Estimates Against England and Stat. N’bour Projections 
(Rate per 10,000 children)

                           30 June 2018      30 June 2019 30 June 2020 

Total  
population           648         611         585

                                Starters      Remain       Tracked         Total end             CYPiC  
                                per             in care        CYPiC            of 2020-2021       Rate 
                                month         (%)              to exit (%)      Full Year              per 10,000 

Worst Case        15            75            70               602                 109  

Medium Case     12            75            70               575                 101 

Best Case          10            75            70               557                 80.3 

The rate of CYPiC per 10,000 children and number of children and young 
people in care have consistently reduced since 2016. Wolverhampton’s 
national ranking has improved slightly from number 8 out of 148 local 
authorities in 2016 to number 25 in 2019 when number 1 was worst. 
Wolverhampton’s rate in 2019 was the second highest in the Black 
Country and significantly higher than the England average. 

CYPiC Projections and Targets 

CYPiC Team has used a model of stratification and segmentation of the 
CAYPIC population into groups of children most likely to leave care, with 
predictions based on best case, medium case, and worst-case scenarios 
for 2020/21.

P
age 41



12 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Sufficiency Information & Analysis 

CYPiC Team has considered the impact of Covid-19 on families in Wolverhampton who are affected by the trio of 
vulnerabilities, namely alcohol/substance abuse, domestic abuse and mental health problems.  

The trio of vulnerabilities have been evidenced to put children at notably greater risk of immediate harm as well as 
having a detrimental impact on their later life outcomes. According to the latest local area profiles of child vulnerability 
from the UK Children’s Commissioner Office, the City of Wolverhampton Council’s profile is detailed below. 

THE IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON CYPiC POPULATION

Households where an adult  
has an alcohol or drug dependency  

Projected 
percentage of 
children in 
household

Projected  
number of 
0-17-year olds 
affected 

4.48% 2,750

Households where an adult  
experienced domestic abuse in last year

5.88% 3,600

Households where an adult  
has severe mental ill-health symptoms

13.8% 8,450
Projected 
percentage of 
children in 
household

Projected  
number of 
0-17-year olds 
affected 

Households where an adult  
has any of the above risks

Projected 
percentage of 
children in 
household

Projected  
number of 
0-17-year olds 
affected 

18.66% 11,430

Households where an adult  
has two or more of the above risks

4.69% 2,870

Households where an adult  
has all three of the above risks 

1.18% 730
Projected 
percentage of 
children in 
household

Projected  
number of 
0-17-year olds 
affected 

Projected 
percentage of 
children in 
household

Projected  
number of 
0-17-year olds 
affected 

Projected 
percentage of 
children in 
household

Projected  
number of 
0-17-year olds 
affected 

With the Covid-19 Crisis Scenario targets for children leaving care in consideration, the CYPiC numbers within the above projections 
would increase. At the end of 2020/21, the projected figure will be 629, which would be an increase of 43 during 2020/21.

Adult has
severe mental

ill-health

Adult has
alcohol or drug

dependency

Adult 
experienced

domestic 
abuse

P
age 42



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 13wolverhampton.gov.uk

Sufficiency Information & Analysis 

Commissioners Response to Covid-19 

Our response is underpinned by strong recovery principles: 

a. Target recovery activity and support to where most needed 
through evidence-based decisions and focusing on priority outcomes 
and agreed priorities.  

b. Stabilise and accelerate the recovery for Wolverhampton’s 
people, places and providers. Work in partnership on business 
and service continuity and recovery plans 

c. Tackle inequalities – to help our most vulnerable and 
disadvantaged citizens and communities overcome the negative 
impacts of COVID-19.  

d. Join up and work in Partnership – to maximise connections 
with partners (public services, private sector, communities, 
voluntary sector and citizens) to speed up recovery.  

e. Apply our learning from COVID-19 – utilise learning and 
good practice to improve commissioning decisions, deepen 
collaboration and partnership working. 

We will also ensure that all services we deliver and commission 
are COVID-19 secure and that the right COVID-19 safe advice 
and support is available to providers and other services within 
our communities. We want our customers, staff and 
communities to feel safe in accessing all the businesses, 
services and activities that are a normal part of their lives and 
to be confident that everyone has put in place the COVID-19 
safe measures to do this.

P
age 43



Our Approach to Ensuring Sufficiency 

Background 

The Children and Young People’s Service Key Priorities 2020-
2021 commits to ensure children and young people get the 
best start in life by: 

• Strengthening families where children are at risk  
(Enables children to remain safely within families) 

• Strengthening families where children are at risk  
(Less children and young people become involved or remain 
involved in the youth justice system) 

• Strengthening families where children are at risk  
(Children experience permanent and stable placements) 

• Providing education that fulfils potential 

• Building strong resilient and healthy communities 

The Council has invested a range of internal and commissioned 
services to support these priorities, from Early Intervention to 
Specialist Support and suitable placements for children and young 
people in care. 

 

 

 

Rebalancing Commissioning from essential  
to preventative 

A preventative commissioning approach is the basis on which we 
will meet the sufficiency of provision our children and young people 
need within a finite financial envelope.  

We think that the landscape of early help deserves more 
consideration if we are to avoid a scenario where the indirect 
consequences of family needs being picked up late, when they 
have become complex and chronic, more damaging to children’s 
life chances and more costly for society as a whole. 

Commissioners will use the impact of Covid-19 as a driver for 
increasing the work of rebalancing essential and often reactive 
commissioned services to earlier preventative ones. This is 
something we saw as a priority even before the pandemic, but a 
greater pace of change and focus is now required. More details on 
how we will work to achieve this are detailed in the Strategic 
Commissioning for Children and Young People’ section of this 
strategy.  

 

14 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Sufficiency Information & Analysis 

5

P
age 44



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 15wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our Approach to Ensuring Sufficiency 

Specialist Support Services  

A range of interventions are provided to young people and their 
families with the focus on preventing young people to enter into 
care and de-escalating issues which potentially may impact young 
people’s well-beings. They include: 

• Restorative Practice 

• Edge of Care 

• Family Group Conference 

• Upper Pendeford Farm Short Break 

• Barnardo’s 

• Power2 

• K2I 

• LAC Mentors 

• Connecting Families 
 

Internal services are supported by all targeted commissioned 
services such as the Power2 Key Workers Project and the 
Specialist Intensive Family Therapeutic Support Service. 

 

 

 

 

Early Intervention, Children in Need and Child Protection 

Eight Strengthening Families Hubs across the City provide support 
and activities for families with children 0-18 years. With everything 
from parenting support, housing, benefits, training and employment 
and much more to help families get the most out of family life with 
children. 

Support include coping with difficult behaviour, routines, managing 
budgets, support accessing the Terrific for Twos and nursery 
provision, so families have time to access training or prepare for 
employment 

The hubs also provide support in finances, stop smoking, housing, 
domestic violence, toilet training, health & nutrition, support for 
fathers, etc. 

Increase internal fostering placements 

The Family Values project run by the Fostering Team aims to reduce 
external fostering agencies and maximise placements with internal 
foster carers. There is also a strong recruitment focus in the Foster 
Families United scheme. 
 

Fostering type               Aug 2019        Jul 2020         % Change  

Agency                           188                 150                 -20.21% 

Friends and Family          82                   86                   +4.88% 

Internal Foster Carer        177                 215                 +21.47% 

P
age 45



Projected Demands on CYPIC Placements 

Children’s Service has focussed on reducing the number of children 
in care since 2014. The launch of Children’s MASH in 2014 has 
been instrumental to this objective. At one point, Wolverhampton’s 
rate of children in care was the second highest in England with over 
800 children in care. In August 2020, 585 children are currently in 
the care of City of Wolverhampton Council. 

The number of children in care is expected to be more in proportion 
to the England average by 2023. However, the Covid-19 pandemic 
started in 2020 inevitably would have some unforeseeable impact 
on vulnerable children and their families, such as unemployment, 
school attendance, housing, etc.  

During 2020 to 2023, sufficiency will be required to provide suitable 
placements for children in care in the right place at the right time. 
The Council will continue to increase internal fostering capacity to 
ensure majority of children in foster care will be placed with internal 
foster carers. Generally, dependency on the external market of 
fostering, children’s home and supported accommodation would 
continue to reduce. 

 

 

 

 

 

Plans to reduce dependency on external care providers 
include: 

1. Fostering 

• The Family Values project run by the Fostering Team aims to 
reduce external fostering agencies and maximise placements 
with internal foster carers.  

• There is also a strong recruitment focus in the Foster Families 
United scheme. 

2. Children’s Home 

• The Council expects the number of children’s home placements 
to reduce in the next 3 years when some of the young people 
turn 18 y.o. 

• City of Wolverhampton Council will continue to be part to the 
West Midlands Regional Framework Contract and collaborate 
with the Regional Commissioning Hub. 

• Step Down projects such as The Big Fostering Partnership will 
ensure children whose care plan is fostering will step down from 
residential to fostering. 

 

16 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our Approach to Ensuring Sufficiency 

P
age 46



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 17wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our Approach to Ensuring Sufficiency 

3. 16-17 y.o. and Care Leavers 

• The proportion of care leavers who are in suitable 
accommodation rose in 2017 to be better than the English 
average.  

• The current accommodation provisions for care leavers include 
transitions flats, host families, the House Project, commissioned 
supported accommodation through block contract and regional 
frameworks.  

• The number of care leavers placed with external providers has 
reduced from 12 in June 2019 to 4 in August 2020. 

 

SUFFICIENCY FOR 2021 TO 2024 

Whilst the dependency on placing children in care with external 
providers is expected to reduce, placement sufficiency for the 
following cohorts of children must be considered in the Council’s 
Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021-2024 

Children in Care with Complex Needs 

• This will be the main cohort of children in residential care. 

• Majority of these children are open to DCYPT. 

• Majority of these residential placements would be funded  
by EPP. 

 

 

Children in Care with Complex Needs  
but not Health Needs 

• The number of children in this cohort would remain small. 

• They will require full time care in residential placements. 

• Some children of this cohort may be able to step down to foster 
placement with robust planning, matching, transitions and 
support to foster carers. 

Children in Need and Child Protection 

The Early Intervention Offer will ensure children in need and children 
on the edge of care to receive targeted interventions. 

Young People Leaving Prison 

When young people leave prison after having served their custodial 
sentence, it has been a constant challenge to find suitable 
placement for this small cohort. 

Accommodation for 16 and 17 y.o. 

Young people in this cohort are often not in care but are unable to 
live at home with their family for a variety of reasons, such as 
bereavement, overcrowding, family breakdown or risk of abuse. 
Legally, they cannot hold any tenancy agreements with landlords 
due to their age. Some of these young people are placed in 
supported lodgings with providers such as YMCA. Children’s 
Commissioning will work with service leads on needs analysis and 
how to model this service. 

P
age 47



18 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our Approach to Ensuring Sufficiency 

Specialist Support 

Vulnerable children and their families are supported by the Council’s internal 
specialist support and commissioned services, namely the Power2 Project and 
Specialist Intensive Family Therapeutic Support.  

• The Power2 Project provides a multi-disciplinary team who work to prevent 
at-risk young people in Wolverhampton from having to come into care. The 
Power2 team works with up to sixty 11 to 16-year olds where there are 
concerns around exploitation, instability in the home environment or who 
demonstrate high risk-taking behaviours such as substance misuse, 
helping them to live safely as they progress towards adulthood. With 
additional funding from the West Midlands Police and Crime 
Commissioner, the Power2 team will enable to extend the support to 
young adults who are vulnerable within the community.  

• The number of families/young people supported by the Specialist 
Intensive Family Therapeutic Support Service will increase from sixty to 
ninety per annum under the new contract commencing in April 2021. 
 

Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) 

City of Wolverhampton Council will continue to work with The Royal 
School Wolverhampton when the Council receives any new allocation. 
The working relationship between the Council and the school has 
been very positive. 

 

 

P
age 48



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 19wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our Approach to Ensuring Sufficiency 

 

92 employees have participated in the three day Restorative 
Practice training between April 2018 and March 2019. There are 
examples of employees using the approach in family meetings to 
help family rnerribers understand their actions impact on their loved 
ones. For some this has been effective in increasing the families 
motivation to change. Many employees also use restorative solution 
circles to generate ideas to work creatively with Children and 
Families where they feel the plan has not been effective in 

To

Not

With

For

Building 
Relationships

Support

C
ha

lle
ng

e

Our Values for Children Services  

• To develop respectful and eirpowering relationships  
with children, young people and families  

• To ensure children are at the centre of ervithing we do  

• High aspirations, high expectations  

The Children and Young People’s service began adopting a 
restorative approach to practice in November 2016. All frontline 
practitioners receive three days training in the approach.  

The approach emphasises the importance of building effective 
relationships, working with families rather than doing things to 
them or for them and helping families make sustainable 
change. 

Restorative is a high support high challenge model that 
supports practitioners to be clear about concerns and set clear 
expectations whilst providing support to help families achieve 
these goals.

P
age 49



20 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our Children & Young People’s Voices 

Our Children &  
Young People’s Voices 

The Children and Young People Directorate’s 
Summary of Key Priorities 2020-21 states 
that the aim of our service is to work  
together to provide creative and seamless 
support to enable safety and opportunity for 
children, young people and their families’ 

These Key Priorities include the following 
two directly aimed at co-production with 
children and young people: 

Children are at the centre of what we do.  

Establish and cement the utilisation of 
the co-production hub as a base for 
participation and co-production with 
children across the city.  

A further description of how these two key 
priorities are being implemented can be 
found in the following three sections. 

6

1

2

The Youth Council

Th
e 

C
ar

e 
Le

av
er

 d
ro

p 
in

The Children in C
are C

ouncil

The House Project The Care Leave
r F

or
um

We really try to
understand a child’s

experience, and what
life is like for them

Spending time with 
children is important. 

We make time 
for this

We are
consistent

and
dependable.

We follow
through and
do what we

say we 
will do

We always
involve

children in
decisions
that affect

them

CHILDREN
are at the

centre of what 
we do 

Co-
pr

od
uc

tio
n 

H
ub

Co-production Hub

C
o

-p
rod

uction H
ub

P
age 50



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 21wolverhampton.gov.uk

x

The following two links give an insight regarding the approach 
to co-production in Wolverhampton:  

http://win.wolverhampton.gov.uk/kb5/wolverhampton/directory/a
dvice.page?id=Z0bhtBjrsZM 

https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/wolverhampton
/asch/files/final_co-production_charter.pdf 

The City of Wolverhampton Council has a strong history of including 
the views of children, young people and their families in the shaping 
of services and listed below are a few examples of the forums 
already in place that contribute to the design and finalisation of 
service provision on a local, regional and national basis: 

Youth Council 

The Youth Council is made up of young people elected by their 
school, community group or specialist service to contribute to the 
City Council’s development of services that effect young people for 
example community engagement, health and wellbeing, children 
and young people and city developments. This is achieved by the 
inclusion of the group in the Council’s scrutiny away days, two seats 
on the children and young people’s scrutiny panel and community 
cohesion board. 

The group meets monthly, but also meets in task groups focusing 
on specific issues as highlighted by their agenda or that of the 
councils. It leads on Make Your Mark for the City and uses the 
outcome to influence scrutiny planning in the council. Workshops 
and training is completed with the group to ensure that the young 

people are well supported and skilled in tasks required of them. This 
group also engages in the national youth forums – two youth MPs 
and two Youth Crime Commissioners are elected through the 
group. The group holds an AGM and shares its annual reports with 
Council Leaders. 

Children in Care Council 

The Children in Care Council (CiCC) is made of young people aged 
11-18 who are in care of the City Council, some living with foster 
carers, residential homes, friends and family carers and some living 
independently. These young people are nominated to become 
members by their social workers, Independent Reviewing Officers 
(IRO), foster carers or other professionals who feel that young 
people would benefit from the skills acquired as part of the council. 
CiCC is a statutory requirement as laid down by the Care Matters 
white paper 2007.  

This group meets monthly. The young people complete induction 
training; interview training and some will complete the Total Respect 
Training. In addition to the group meeting they meet twice a year 
with the Corporate Parenting Board. The CiCC work plan includes 
all the reports sent to this board. This process is to ensure the 
experiences and opinions of the young people are imbedded into 
service delivery and development. This group attends national 
forums through the National Children’s Board (NCB) which advises 
on national policy 

 

Co-productionSection One

P
age 51

http://win.wolverhampton.gov.uk/kb5/wolverhampton/directory/advice.page?id=Z0bhtBjrsZM
http://win.wolverhampton.gov.uk/kb5/wolverhampton/directory/advice.page?id=Z0bhtBjrsZM
https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/wolverhampton/asch/files/final_co-production_charter.pdf
https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/wolverhampton/asch/files/final_co-production_charter.pdf


22 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our Children & Young People’s Voices 

Care Leavers Forum, Care Leavers Independent 
Collective  

The Care Leavers Forum (Care Leaver Independent Collective, 
CLIC) is made up of young people who are supported by the 
council leaving care team known as the Transitions Team, these 
young people are 18 -25 (depending on their educational status) 
and are either living independently, living with a host or staying put 
with foster carers. They are recruited to the forum through 
advertisements on Facebook, through their Young Person’s 
Advisors (YPA) or social worker. 

The group meets monthly and has its meeting combined with a 
peer support element as these young people can be very isolated. 
The formal part of the meeting is for an hour and half where they 
look at policy developments and service provision and give 
feedback to officers. This group also takes part in the National Care 
Leaver Covenant and National Benchmarking Forum which feeds 
into national policy development for Care Leavers. 

Head Start Ambassadors 

HeadStart mini ambassadors are in 4 local communities Blakenhall, 
Low Hill, Bilston and Whitmore Reans. The young people are aged 
12 to 18 and assist in the delivery of programmes and projects. 
Their role also includes sharing the views of young people with the 
professionals about the experiences of young people living in these 
communities.  

 

Youth Police Crime Commissioners 

Youth Commissioners represent young people across the West 
Midlands. They are aged 18 and under. The job of the Youth 
Commissioner is to advise the Police and Crime Commissioner on 
issues affecting them and their peers. 

Each Neighbourhood Policing Area has two elected Youth 
Commissioners serving two-year terms. 

As a Youth Commissioner you can be asked to do the 
following: 

• Consult young people on the Commissioner’s Police and  
Crime Plan. 

• Speak directly with the Police and Crime Commissioner, police 
officers and decision makers, raising issues affecting young 
people including community safety, youth justice, victim services 
and crime prevention.  

• Engage and consult with other young people in their local 
communities and listen to their views. 

• Hold West Midlands Police to account for the service they 
provide for young people. 

• Build relationships with police and break down barriers that  
exist between officers and young people. 

 

 

 

P
age 52



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 23wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our Children & Young People’s Voices 

 

 

 

 

 

Youth Parliament and Youth MP’s 

The UK Youth Parliament (UKYP) is a youth organisation in the 
United Kingdom, consisting of democratically elected members 
aged between 11 and 18. 

Members meet regularly to hold debates and plan campaigns at 
least three times a year locally, and twice on a national level, which 
includes the annual debate within the Chamber of the House of 
Commons every November. Young people hold positions 
throughout the organisation's management, and it has been 
endorsed by the majority of the UK's political parties. 

West Midlands Children in Care Council 

Annual Conference to share ideas and promote the needs of 
Children and Young People in Care. DCS and lead members are 
invited to attend the event. 

 

National Leaving Care Bench Marking Forum 

This national forum is a network of over 100 local authorities 
promoting the development of quality leaving care services with 
member authorities and partner organisations through a process of 
benchmarking and shared learning on a national scale, to enrich 
outcomes for our nations care leavers. 

In addition to these different groups/forums there are other co-
production vehicles available such as the Young Carers Forum, the 
Way youth forum and the utilisation of Mystery shopping exercises. 

Children and Young People’s services also welcome the views and 
opinions of parent/carers and the following are some of the groups 
that provide this feedback currently (more information can be found 
by clicking on the hyperlinks above): 

Voice 4 Parents 

Voice4Parents is a well-established parent carer forum whose 
children have special educational needs and/or disabilities (SEND). 
The forum represents the views of other parents and carers and 
work together with the City of Wolverhampton Council, 
Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group and other strategic 
partners, to make sure the services and support available meets the 
needs of children, young people and their families. Voice4Parents 
believes that children, young people and their families are best 
placed to help develop and shape the services and support they 
receive.  

 

P
age 53



24 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our Children & Young People’s Voices 

The forum has been working hard to extend its reach and social 
media following so that more families have the opportunity to share 
their views and experiences and get involved. It has established 
links with other parent and carer groups including Wolverhampton, 
Walsall and surrounding areas ASD/PDA Group, Include Me Too, 
Give Us A Break, Let Us Play, Zebra Access, Healthwatch and 
Wolverhampton Parent Champions. Communication mechanisms 
between these groups and Voice4Parents will be facilitated by the 
establishment of Voice4Parents ‘Community Group’.  

There is a wide network of other community information groups 
across the city that support the work of Voice4Parents and help to 
share information with families.  

Voice4Parents has a good working relationship with Wolverhampton 
Information, Advice and Support Service that champions the work 
of the forum with families they support. 

Voice4Parents is a member of the National Network of Parent Carer 
Forums (NNPCF) to influence regional and national SEND policies, 
projects and activities. 

 

 

 

 

 

Parent Champions 

Over the past few months Parent Champions (PC) have had to 
adapt to new ways of reaching and supporting parents in the City. 

Support has been offered mainly through the telephone where PC 
have stayed connected through weekly conversations with 
vulnerable adults.  

Support has extended to include: 

• Care Leavers Team 

• Social Services 

• Health Visitors Team 

• Breastfeeding Support Services 

• Strengthening Families Teams / Hubs 
 

Due to Covid19 restrictions and social distance guidelines the need 
to offer support remains to these identified families and individuals, 
and conversations proves that parents value the support available 
to them as often they are desperate for interaction with other 
families. It’s proven that PC add value to local family’s mental health 
and support groups are a vital step to reaching out to families. 
Parents are still eager to attend various support groups in the City, 
however, due to restrictions we are unable to reopen group 
attendance in local centres. Parent Champions are a vital link for 
many families and their mental wellbeing. 

 

P
age 54



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 25wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our Children & Young People’s Voices 

Information, Advice and Support Service 

The Information, Advice and Support Service (IASS) is a confidential 
and impartial service that fulfils the statutory duty to offer 
information, advice and support to children and young people 0-25 
with SEND and their parents/carers. Information, advice and 
support is on matters relating to SEND across education, health 
and social care.  

The IASS offers an individual casework service to help navigate 
systems and to improve understanding and involvement with 
discussions and decision making. The intelligence gathered by the 
IASS provides valuable contribution to local strategic developments 
and ensures that the voice and experience of children, young 
people and parents/carers is at the heart of planning and 
development. The IASS historically provided significant support to 
the work of Voice4Parents Wolverhampton which has now become 
independent.  

The IASS Advisory Group is made up of partners across education, 
health, and social car including representation from parents and the 
voluntary sector. The Chair is the Deputy Chief Executive of 
Changing Our Lives. The IASS Advisory Group is supported by a 
shadow group of young people with SEND who help to shape and 
support the development of the IASS in relation to children and 
young people. This group dovetails with #YES. 

 

 

 

The IASS has an active social media presence which engages 
followers on local and national processes and developments. In 
May 2020, the IASS conducted a survey to find out parental 
experiences during lockdown. The findings can be viewed in this 
feedback report. 

 

P
age 55



26 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our Children & Young People’s Voices 

Emotional Mental Health & Wellbeing Services Review 

An extensive consultation and communication plan was created to 
obtain the views of as many stakeholders as possible to ensure that 
we commissioned the right service, in the right place and at the 
right time for children, young people and their families. 

A survey monkey website was developed for children, young 
people, their families and professionals to give their views on what 
Emotional Mental Health & Wellbeing services was needed in the 
City. 75 Parent/carers, 125 professionals and 322 Young people 
completed the survey monkey questionnaire re the Emotional 
Mental Health &Wellbeing service. 

In addition, face to face focus groups were held with the Camhs 
Council, young people attending the interim provider of the 
Emotional Mental Health and Wellbeing service, Youth Council, 
teachers, schools nurses, parents/carers etc to ensure that 
everybody’s views were heard and noted. Over 22 different focus 
groups were held. 

 

 

 

 

 

Young people have been included in the tender evaluation process 
and have designed a question which has 3 parts that potential 
providers will have to respond to. Their question has been weighted 
and will form part of the overall mark and will therefore have 
influence on who will be awarded the contract. The professional 
evaluation panel will take their scores into account.  

The commissioners have been most impressed by their insight and 
professionalism when it comes to considering what they wanted to 
know from potential providers.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The following are examples of where children and young people and their families have been involved  
in the shape and design of services:

Children and Young People’s Commissioning and Procurement of ServicesSection Two

P
age 56



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 27wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our Children & Young People’s Voices 

HeadStart Places to Go and Work with Parents 
Commissioning 

Since its conception Coproduction and the views and opinions of 
young people has been at the heart of HeadStart Wolverhampton. 
(A £10 million 5-year funding programme to improve the resilience 
and emotional wellbeing of children and young people aged 10 – 16 
years). 

Included in the successful bid for the funding was the need to 
commission Places to Go for children and young people and Work 
with Parents for Parent/Carers. 

The Service Specification for both these elements of the HeadStart 
Programme was coproduced with children and young people and 
parent/carers.  

Volunteers from the Parent Champions scheme were trained and 
took part in the evaluation process siting on the professional panels 
and evaluating submitted bids. The Parent Champions also took 
part in moderation panels and the HeadStart staff involved in the 
evaluation panel were very impressed by their knowledge, opinions 
and life experiences that informed their views of the submitted bids. 

One of the Parent Champions involved successfully obtained 
employment following their experience of being involved in a 
procurement process. 

 

 

Dragons Den – HeadStart Commissioning process. 

HeadStart blazed the trial in giving children and young people the 
reign to award pilot projects as part of the early days of HeadStart 
Wolverhampton. 

The intention was to commission providers to deliver 3 strands of 
the HeadStart Programme - disengaged children and young people, 
working with parents and a place to go for children and young 
people. This was an exciting opportunity to improve the resilience of 
our children and young people and their parents and we were 
looking for innovative, dynamic methods of delivery which would 
result in a high level of engagement and good outcomes across the 
three strands. 

The service specification and quote document was designed with 
children and young people and completed applications were 
considered by a ‘Dragon’s Den’ panel of young people, supported 
by members of the council’s Procurement and Joint Commissioning 
team.  

Providers presented in front of 8 panels in total and the 
procurement officer, commissioner and representative from the 
HeadStart Partnership Board in attendance were most impressed 
with how knowledgeable and professional the children and young 
people on the panel were in appraising not only the completed 
applications but also the presentations by the providers. 

This approach has since been replicated e.g. the Best of Bilston 
awards where young people again assessed funding applications in 
the next phase of the HeadStart programme. 

P
age 57



28 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our Children & Young People’s Voices 

Other areas where children and young people have been involved in the 
commissioning process is a full day workshop on what the Sufficiency Strategy meant 
to them as Children in Care in terms of stability. (they workshopped the plan for 
the Sufficiency Workshop with the young people at the Children in Care Council 
and the Care Leavers Forum meeting. They designed the activities that they lead on 
at the workshop) and the tendering of the Supported Accommodation for Care 
Leavers where care leavers supported by participation officers designed an 
evaluation question for the tender process in relation to their view of the Service 
Specification. 

Wolverhampton Council 

The Emotional Mental Health & Wellbeing review has demonstrated that to 
achieve a good Service Specification which will deliver a good service then the 
views of children, young people, parent/carers and all partners and stakeholders 
must be included. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 58



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 29wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our Children & Young People’s Voices 

 The development of the Coproduction Hub will provide a central 
focus point for commissioners to plan for the voice of children, 
young people and their families to be involved in all future 
commissioning plans and intentions. 

Likewise, procurement colleagues will work with commissioners to 
plan that the coproduction work with children, young people and 
their families is scheduled into procurement timescales as well as 
into the governance reporting timelines within the City of 
Wolverhampton Council. 

The Emotional Mental Health & Wellbeing review has demonstrated 
that to achieve a good Service Specification which will deliver a 
good service then the views of children, young people, 
parent/carers and all partners and stakeholders must be included. 

Children and Young People’s Feedback 

It is evident from the views sought by young people that making 
new friends through engagement with our services, gaining 
confidence and having a voice have been the main highlights for 
those involved.  

Commissioners remain committed to ensuring that the ‘voice of the 
child’ or ‘end user’ if the project is internal, is central to service 
development and that engagement will be embedded into the 
delivery approach and Strategic Planning at the earliest opportunity.  

This will start at the pre-initiation and concept phase of all future 
strategies and will challenge Commissioners to think about how  
co-production will be addressed early on during scoping and 
outcomes setting. 

Making

FriendsNew
Confidence

Voice

Experiences
Speaking without judgement

Broaden
Involved

Perspective

Opportunities

Commitment
Responsibility

Engagement

Chair of CiCC
Share

Student opinionsI Awards
opinions Infulence

Something bigger

Share opinions

Strengthening the Voice of Children, Young People and their Families in the Commissioning ProcessSection Three

P
age 59



30 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Strategic Commissioning for Children and Young People 

Strategic Commissioning for Children and Young People 

7

Theme 1 

Collaborative Leadership 
 
 

Theme 2 
Strong and effective 

participation and  
co-prodiction

Theme 3 

Creating a vision for local 
service provision 

 

Theme 4 
Implementing robust joint 
commissioning systems  

and processes

Theme 5 

Delivering improved value  
and outcomes 

 

Theme 6 
Engaging the market and 
securing the best delivery 

method

Theme 7 

Understanding performance  
of all services  

(internal and contracted)

STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING FOR EFFECTIVE SERVICES

FOUNDATIONS PLANNING SECURING MONITORING

P
age 60



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 31wolverhampton.gov.uk

Strategic Commissioning for Children and Young People 

Our strategic approach and decision making for commissioned 
services will be based on evidence and data. We will work with 
partners and the community to ensure we build on strengths and 
networks that already exist, and our focus will be on prevention and 
targeted services that have the most impact.  

We will need to work in innovative and radically different ways and 
to make the best use of opportunities offered by digital solutions 
and emerging technologies. Commissioners are looking at a 
number of ways to use commercial investments, utilising property 
assets and the provider market to enhance our services in order to 
improve outcomes for our children and young people. 

We are tackling these challenges from a strong base. We manage 
our finances responsibly; our staff are engaged, committed and 
passionate about delivering the best possible outcomes for our 
communities. We work with partners who share our ambition. We 
recognise that within our communities there are skills, resources, 
relationships and networks that we can build on so that we make 
the most of our strengths and collective assets to make 
Wolverhampton the best it can be, now and for future generations. 

 

 

 

 

 

Understand  
our Services

Manage  
our  

Contracts

Hear our  
Children and Young 

People

Know the  
market

Commissioners 
will…P

age 61



32 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Strategic Commissioning for Children and Young People 

Creating a Vision  
for local provision 

Strong and effective 
participation and  

co production

Collaborative  
Leadership

We will not just commission 
contracts and services, but 

have longer term plans.  
We will be proactive 

commissioners with a shared 
vision for 3 to 5 years time. 
We will identify and plan for 

emerging need.

We will Involve services, 
procurement, finance, and 

legal as shared participants in 
the commissioning cycle.  
The Child’s Voice will be a 

strong strand of the 
Commissioning Cycle. 

Voice 4 Parents are a 
Strategic Partner and will be 
engaged with as such and as 

early as possible in any 
commissioning plans. 

1
T H E M E S

Strengthen relationships with 
Heads of Service and service 

managers, recognising they are 
subject experts and better 

understand how to meet the 
needs of children, young people 
and families – develop long term 
partnerships built on trust and 

respect rather than solely 
process, briefing notes and data. 

Become a critical friend.  
As Strategic Commissioners we 
can approach services with fresh 
eyes away from the daily tasks 

and operational working. We will 
be outward facing, meet with 
providers and children and 

young people who access our 
services. Commissioning is not a 

desk based exercise. 

2 3

P
age 62



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 33wolverhampton.gov.uk

Strategic Commissioning for Children and Young People 

Understanding  
performance of  

all services

Engaging the market and 
ensuring the best delivery 

method

Delivering improved  
value and outcomes

Implementing robust  
joint commissioning systems 

and processes

Have a comprehensive 
performance knowledge with 

a Commissioning 
Performance Dashboard. 

Understand which model of 
delivery works best, and 

identify where there are gaps 
in provision or low 

performance. Value for money 
alongside the best outcomes, 

not either or. 

Review the market –  
are there sufficient suppliers  

to meet predicted need. 
Develop useful 

communication tools for 
engaging with providers such 
as provider forums, guidance 
documents, market position 
statements and proactively 

shape the market in readiness 
for re-designing services.

Systematically gather and 
collate performance, feedback 
and data – both quantitative 

and qualitative about services, 
pathways and approaches 
and reviewing any that are 

being developed at this time, 
for example virtual and digital 

innovations, to help inform 
decisions about whether they 

are effective and worth 
carrying on with.

Play a key role as Children 
and Young People’s 

Commissioning at the Joint 
Commissioning Board.  

Work with all partners and 
commissioners to formalise 

joint commissioning 
arrangements and strategic 

plans. 

4 5 6 7

P
age 63



34 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Strategic Commissioning for Children and Young People 

Rebalancing Our 
Commissioning Model 

It is our strategic aim to 
rebalance our 
commissioning model away 
from reactive placements to 
preventative services. This 
will take time, and the data 
and processes we detail in 
this document will need to 
be in place to enable us to 
do this. 

Prevention
Services 

prioritised and
commissioned /

placements
reduced

Performance / 
Data / Balance 

Scorecards

Service Reviews /
Procurement

Timelines

SERVICE REVIEW WORKSHOPS 

In order to make better Strategic Commissioning decisions, we 
have committed to having a full service review approach. These 
workshops will be scheduled in line with our risk based approach 
elsewhere. (see Risk Based Contract Management) 

Workshops will move away from isolated contract and procurement 
decision making, where the impact on other contracts and 
providers is not fully understood. We will instead establish what we 
need and when before procurement or contract activities 
commence.  

Workshops will; 

• Present the Children and Young People’s experience 

• Provider(s) feedback 

• All contract(s) and internal service performance 

• Total budgets at service level (amalgamated from internal and 
contract funding) 

• Market Information 

• Service Teams and Frontline staff information 

• Head of Service overviews and strategic plans 

• Commissioning Analysis 

They will establish a clear and jointly owned vision for  
a service over a 2 to 5 year period.  

P
age 64



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 35wolverhampton.gov.uk

Strategic Commissioning for Children and Young People 

Contracts will be managed 
appropriately, early actions taken 

to address underperformance

Contracted providers will feel 
supported by the whole system. 

A shared responsibility for 
success  

Long Term planning. 

We will know what we 
want, when well need it, 

and how we can get it for 
best value 

STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING

We will be leaders in 
prevention and 

innovation.  

We will be brave 
commissioners willing to 

try new approaches  

SERVICE PERFORMANCE 

Service Reviews will  
be embedded into  

our continious 
improvement 

We will know the 
value and 

performance of  
ALL services 

CONTRACT MANAGEMENT

P
age 65



36 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Strategic Commissioning for Children and Young People 

32 AREAS OF VULNERABILITY – CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONER 

Given the breadth of the concept of vulnerability, there is currently no 
straightforward way to clearly define vulnerable children. the Children’s 
Commissioner’s Office have taken the approach outlined in the table below 
to identify specific groups of vulnerable children that could form and 
inform an initial working, measurable framework of vulnerable children. 
City of Wolverhampton Council Children’s Commissioners will use 
these groups to underpin the subsequent services we commission, 
ensuring they fit within a service framework. 

Frameworks of vulnerability are ways of thinking that combine 
different elements or groups of vulnerable children into a 
single structure across broad groups of concern. These 
frameworks are used for working with vulnerable children 
and young people across different sectors including 
children’s services, social care, health and criminal 
justice. We will map the vulnerabilities to our services, 
and ensure that we are commissioning to meet the 
needs for as many vulnerable groups as possible, 
within a deliverable contract and available 
funding.  

 

 

 

Overall 
aim

The broader, 
longer term change 

you want to contribute to

Specific aims
The changes you want to create

Objectives
The work you do

P
age 66



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 37wolverhampton.gov.uk

Strategic Commissioning for Children and Young People 

1 Looked after children  

2 Care Leavers  

3 Children in Need  

4 Adopted Children  

5 Children who are subject to child protection plans  

6 Children in a secure detention estate  

7 Unaccompanied asylum seeking children  

8 Children who are subject to a special guardianship order  

9 Children who have SEND  

10 Children who have mental health difficulties  

11 Children who have physical health issues 

12 Children who are homeless or in insecure accommodation  

13 Children in poverty  

14 Children in low income families  

15 Children in "troubled' families  

16 Young carers  

17 Children whose parents use substances problematically  

18 Teenage parents  

19 Children in non-intact families  

20 Pre-Section 17  

21 Undocumented children/children without legal identity  

22 Children whose parents may have limited parenting capacity  

23 Neet/Pre-Neet children  

24 Excluded Children and those at the risk of exclusion  

25 Children involved in the criminal justice system  

26 Young People involved in gangs  

27 Experience of childhood traumas  

28 Victims of modern slavery or trafficking  

29 Missing children  

30 Absent children  

31 Children from minority ethnic backgrounds  

32 Children who are in a gender minority or who are  
lesbian, gay or bisexual 

The 32 areas of vulnerability are:

P
age 67



38 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Risk Based Contract Management 

Risk Based Contract Management 

CoWC recognises the value of a mixed market of internal and 
external services. 

With proper oversight and contract management mechanisms in 
place this approach offers the council flexibility, supports quality, 
manages the market and mitigates risks of market failure or 
monopolies. 

Through a robust commissioning and competitive procurement 
process, CoWC will only select and work with providers that can 
deliver services that meet the needs of our children and within an 
agreed sustainable financial envelope.  

By securing good quality services from providers who want to work 
in partnership with CoWC the council will make the contract 
management process less onerous on both the council and 
services. 

Where CoWC chooses to deliver services ‘in-house’ it will use 
contract management mechanisms with internal services to ensure 
their performance is aligned to the expectations and standards of 
the external market and regulatory bodies. 

 

 

 

CoWC will seek to manage both internal and external services 
through the lenses of: 

1. Risk 

2. Relationships 

Service Risks 

The safety of our children and young people is of paramount 
importance to CoWC but the approach will endeavour to be 
proportionate, pragmatic and provide opportunities for learning and 
continuous improvement on both the part of the service/provider 
and the Council. 

The following areas of risk will be considered: 

• Safety of our children and young people 

• Compliance/Regulation – contract, Ofsted etc. 

• Service/Market failure 

• Financial 

The Council will have clear measures in place to flag all risks so  
that immediate action can be taken to address these with the 
service/provider. 

 

8

P
age 68



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 39wolverhampton.gov.uk

Risk Based Contract Management

Relationships 

Although managing risks around service provision is critical to the 
safety and quality of life for our children and young people, the 
relationship between the council and the service/provider is 
essential to achieving this.  

CoWC will work in partnership with internal services and external 
providers where there is a contractual relationship between them 
and the Council. 

CoWC will facilitate quarterly forums with our services/providers to 
maintain partnerships, understand the challenges within the sector, 
and ensure quality of provision by continuously developing services 
that meet the needs of our children and young people. 

The Council will value and respect the input of providers, seeing 
them as professionals who are delivering the service on behalf of 
CoWC. As such will seek their input and expertise as part of a multi-
disciplinary approach.  

Assumptions 

CoWC will view internal and external providers as partners with 
shared outcomes and objectives. To that end a non-adversarial 
approach will be used and will avoid a blame culture approach. 

The assumption will be that the service or provider is the delivery 
expert and knows how best to provide services with support from 
the Council and other stakeholders and partners. This will be on the 
basis the service/provider is delivering these to a well-designed 

model and service specification that has been signed-off by all key 
stakeholders and partners prior to a competitive process. 

However, CWC recognise the shared responsibility that 
Commissioning, Operational Leads and the provider have in their 
respective roles to ensure the success of any contract or service by 
working in a collaborative way to develop solutions rather than look 
to blame when there are issues. 

The Approach and the Balanced Scorecard 

Where CoWC has a contract or an SLA for a service the approach 
will be light-touch and consist of quarterly monitoring around a 
small number of targeted KPI’s as well as an annual review.  

CoWC will use the principles of a Balanced Scorecard approach to 
measure the performance of internal and external services/providers 
over four quadrants/legs: 

1. Our children and young people 

2. Staff/Operational 

3. Compliance/Regulation 

4. Financial 

Wherever possible CWC will look to support the provider to resolve 
issues and work towards service improvement. Where the Council 
identifies significant issues a more robust approach will be applied. 
If necessary contractual mechanisms to end the council’s 
relationship with a failing provider will be used. 

 

P
age 69



40 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Governance for Sufficiency and Commissioning

Governance for Sufficiency and Commissioning

Children and Young People’s Joint Commissioning Board 

The CYP&F’s Joint Commissioning Board exists to:  

• Support the delivery of Transforming Children’s Services  
& CCG commissioning priorities  

• Support the delivery of the SEND Partnership Board’s 
commissioning priorities  

• Approve Joint Commissioning arrangements and shared funding 
from proposals submitted by relevant services and boards.  

• Promote and explore opportunities for joint commissioning 
arrangements and work towards closer partnership 
arrangements  

• Remove barriers and address challenges that arise across 
different commissioned services  

• Understand each others’ current and emerging pressures and 
seek to identify collective and co-ordinated solutions  

• Understand and share Children, Young People and Parent/Carer 
experiences of services, and ensure their involvement in Joint 
Commissioning arrangements at the earliest possible stage.  

• Practically align partners’ commissioning cycles  

• Provide a regular forum for commissioners to seek support and 
advice from peers and partners  

• Ensure transparency between services and partners  

• Development robust relations between commissioners.  

9

P
age 70



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 41wolverhampton.gov.uk

Governance for Sufficiency and Commissioning

 

 

 

 

 

 

Governance in commissioning 

Much of our day to day work of planning, developing, overseeing 
the delivering and monitoring services is in partnership with 
operational, procurement and finance colleagues and we aim to 
work closely with them to ensure that we are getting what we are 
paying for and paying for what we need throughout the whole of the 
contract’s duration. That’s only part of the story because in addition, 
we must ensure that public money is spent in accordance with the 
principles of; 

• accountability 

• transparency 

• probity 

• focus on sustainable success 

 

Accountability 

The work of commissioners is open to scrutiny through formal local 
government reporting routes to local government committees such 
as Cabinet, Cabinet (Resources) Panel, Children, Young People and 
Families Scrutiny Panel. Before decisions go through the formal 
decision-making process, they are also considered by appropriate 
internal management groups such as Strategic Executive Board 
and Children’s Leadership Team. In addition to this there are 
partnership boards that bring together other stakeholders from our 
communities, health and education such as Health and Wellbeing 
Together Board, Schools Forum, SEND Partnership Board and 
Corporate Parenting Board. Larger value contracts may also report 
to a service specific board or panel for example Emotional 
Wellbeing Panel, Headstart Board. 

Transparency  

Communities must be sure that any services that are commissioned 
meet their needs so is important to ensure that their voice is heard. 
Wolverhampton actively seeks the views of community members 
who are directly affected by its actions, both users and non-users, 
through the full range of consultation approaches; surveys, face to 
face meetings in groups and one to ones, work with special interest 
groups. We also have more formal consultation routes in the 
Children in Care Council and Voice 4Parents.  

In most cases meetings council meetings are held in public and, where 
people have concerns about a service, there is an open complaints 
procedure which is investigated outside the relevant department. 

P
age 71



42 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Governance for Sufficiency and Commissioning

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Probity 

All decisions on how contracts are awarded are made in 
accordance with national procurement legislation and our local 
financial standing orders. What rules are applied depend on the 
value of the contract. How contracts are approved depends on the 
overall value. For smaller value contracts budget manager authorise 
the spending for others written quotes will need to be obtained, for 
larger values it will go out for full tender with contracts of the highest 
value requiring prior consideration by Cabinet (Resources) Panel; 

• Tender opportunity advertised 

• Tenders submitted 

• Tenders evaluated 

• Contract awarded 

• Award reported to Cabinet (Resources) Panel and published 

 

Focus on sustainable success  

Over the term of the contract and in planning for exit or succession, 
we draw on data from key performance indicators contained in the 
specification. Although these can show the operational success of 
any contract, we also need to be mindful that over the three to five 
years a contract is in place, external influences are at play. 
Examples of these are new legislation, innovation in practice, 
technological developments, changes in strategic direction, 
changing market trends or changing circumstances such as 
COVID-19. In responding to these we need to ensure that the 
contract continues to be relevant in terms of: 

• general satisfaction with the service  

• adaptability to changing needs 

• adaptability to emerging trends 
 

To do this we also work with information on general trends, 
relationships with providers and service users, benchmarking with 
other local authorities, continuing financial viability of providers, 
reviews of quality assurance and statutory registration requirements 
and regular customer reviews.

P
age 72



Children and Young People’s Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021–2024 43wolverhampton.gov.uk

x

P
age 73



W
C

C
 2

09
7 

02
/2

02
1

You can get this information in large print, braille,  
audio or in another language by calling 01902 551155

wolverhampton.gov.uk   01902 551155 
 WolverhamptonToday    Wolverhampton_Today    @WolvesCouncil 

City of Wolverhampton Council, Civic Centre, St. Peter’s Square,  

Wolverhampton  WV1 1SH

P
age 74



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
  

 

Corporate Parenting Board 
27 January 2022 

  
Report title Support for Care Leavers Over Christmas 2021 
  

Cabinet member with 
lead responsibility 

Councillor Beverley Momenabadi 
Children and Young People 

Wards affected All wards 

Accountable director Emma Bennett, Executive Director of Families 

Originating service Children’s Services 

Accountable employee Samantha Grainger 

Tel  

Email  

Team manager 

07970244625 

samantha.grainger@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

 

Report has been 

considered by 

 

 

 

 

Children in Care Managers Meeting  

Children’s Social Care Leadership Team  

 

 

4 November 2021 

2 December 2021 

 

Recommendation for action: 

 

The Corporate Parenting Board is recommended to: 

 

1. Receive the Support for Care Leavers Over Christmas 2021 report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item No: 9



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

1.0 Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to outline the support provided to Care Leavers during 

Christmas 2021 through the continued COVID-19 pandemic. This period has impacted 

on the vulnerabilities of Wolverhampton’s young people who have left Wolverhampton’s 

care, leaving them more isolated, struggling financially and at risk of exploitation. 

1.2 The following report sets out how the service took steps to mitigate against this, whilst 

maintaining current COVID-19 guidelines and protecting the health and safety of this 

group of young people. 

2.0 Background 

2.1 Currently in Wolverhampton, the Reach Leaving Care Team supports 377 Care Leavers 

across the UK ranging from 16 -25 who activity work with and receive support from the 

service. Of this group of young people, there are a range of different needs and 

circumstances, in evaluating these needs the service highlighted around 115 young 

people who are living independently who would require additional support.  

2.2 The majority of these young people are on universal credit. The COVID uplift provided by 

the government has recently been removed which has left Wolverhampton’s most 

vulnerable just over £20 per week worse off.  

2.3 In previous years, the service has worked with partners and charitable organisations to 

support this vulnerable group over the festivities.  

2.4 This support has included: 

 Christmas meal in partnership with the University of Wolverhampton 

 Christmas Gifts donated by colleagues, the local community, and Mission 

Christmas 

 Christmas Party hosted and support by Cllr Kaur 

 Advent Calendar to all Care Leavers 

 Gifts to the children of the City Care Leavers, as their Corporate Grandparents 

2.5 In 2021, due to the restrictions and limitations set out to protect residents from COVID 

19, gathering of groups of young people were limited. In addition, feedback received from 

Young Persons’ Advisors was that the vast majority of care experienced young people 

did not want to attend large gatherings with other Care Leavers. 

2.6 Therefore, the service had to think very differently and innovatively to support this group 

and achieve the same outcomes for the young people in order that young people felt 

supported by their Corporate Parents and valued by them. 

 

Page 76



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

3.0 Progress, options, discussion, etc. 

3.1 The service was involved in contingency planning, with the Co-Production and Youth 

Engagement Team during October and November 2021 and reached out to partners to 

seek support. 

3.2 For Christmas 2021 the service managed to secure the following: 

 advent calendars for all Care Leavers. Morrison’s supermarket provided these at 

reduced cost. 

 Selection Boxes for all Care Leavers from funds donated by Councillor Kaur and 

her constituency.  

  26 gifts were provided for all Young people on the House Project from Reconomy. 

 Personalised Christmas card from the Young Person Advisor (YPA) for all Care 

Leavers 

 Gifts for Care Leavers children were secured through the Simple Acts of kindness 

Charity Appeal. 

 The 115 young people identified as vulnerable, each received additional financial 

support per month for support with food utility costs for November, December, 

January, and February via the COVID Winter Fund Offer. 

 45 just eat vouchers for Wolverhampton’s most vulnerable young people to be 

able to order a meal for Christmas of their choice. By using vouchers young 

people living or staying out of city were equally supported. Not all of 

Wolverhampton’s young people like traditional Christmas meals so this catered for 

all tastes. This was funded via the Household support fund. 

3.3 To mitigate against the sense of isolation over this period activities were planned, these 

included: 

 The Co-Production and Youth Engagement Team were planning to host with the 

Care Leavers Independent Collective (CLIC) an end of year event at Bilston Town 

Hall. Unfortunately, due to COVID restrictions this has been postponed. 

 The Grandmentor Project continued to support young people over Christmas. The 

21 young people currently supported by the project were provided with a 

Christmas goody pack. 

 The Reach Leaving Care Team emailed, and hand delivered to all Care Leavers a 

survival guide with strategies to help them cope over the holiday period.  

3.4 In evaluating the current progress, the service highlighted a gap in support from last 

year’s provision; this was the opportunity for Wolverhampton’s most vulnerable Care 

Page 77



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

Leavers to have a substantial gift. This provision as highlighted above has been 

supported by partners in previous years.  

Option 1 

3.5 Children’s Leadership Team agreed to support with purchasing Christmas presents for 

Wolverhampton’s most vulnerable care leavers who would not be receiving gifts from 

elsewhere. Each of these young people had a personal gift to the value of £10 purchased 

by their Young Persons Advisor. This equated to 80 Care Leavers who required a £10 

present. The costs for were met from the Reach Care Leavers Team budget from an 

underspend in other areas. 

4.0 Financial implications 

4.1 The costs of measures detailed within the body of this report were all met from existing 

approved budgets within children’s services. 

[JB/13012022/P] 

5.0 Legal implications 

5.1 The legal implications for this report is set out in the Children and Social Work Act 2017 

in section 1 Corporate Parenting Principles for children and young people in and leaving 

care. 

[SB/13012022/P] 

6.0 Equalities implications 

6.1 This report covers the Council’s support to local Care Leavers provided during the 

Christmas holidays. At no time has the Council made any assumptions about a care 

leaver’s religious views or practices but has sought to offer support that recognises this 

as a national holiday in the UK but recognises that, in line with the wider population, 

Wolverhampton’s care leavers are from diverse backgrounds. Consequently, the food 

vouchers offered for example allowed people to choose their own meal from a range of 

different suppliers that would meet individual and diverse appetites.  

6.2 Additionally, all gifts were made to individual care leavers by Young Persons’ Advisers 

who have personal knowledge of the care leavers they work with and were able to offer 

gifts based in personal knowledge of the recipient.    

7.0 All other Implications 

As detailed in the report, due to COVID -19, plans for supporting Care Leavers at 
Christmas have been amended and no longer include large face to face gatherings. 

 

Page 78



Produced by Insight & Performance

City of Wolverhampton Council - Corporate Parenting Report

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD

PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

31 December 2021
Data as at: 

P
age 79

A
genda Item

 N
o: 10



Produced by Insight & Performance

City of Wolverhampton Council - Corporate Parenting Report

Current CYPiC Profile

Current CYPiC 
per 10,0000 
popula�on

Wolverhampton 
CYPiC per 10,0000
Year End 2019/20

West Mids CYPiC 
per 10,0000 pop 

2019/20

Stat Neighbours 
CYPiC per 10,0000 

pop 2019/20

England CYPiC 
per 10,0000 
pop 2019/20

87 94 82 93 67

Number of Children and Young People in Care in Wolverhampton

Month

D
ec

em
…

Ja
nu

ar
y

Fe
br

ua
…

M
ar

ch

Ap
ril

M
ay

Ju
ne Ju
ly

Au
gu

st

Se
pt

e…

O
ct

ob
er

N
ov

e…

D
ec

em
…

Ja
nu

ar
y

Fe
br

ua
…

M
ar

ch

Ap
ril

M
ay

Ju
ne Ju
ly

Au
gu

st

Se
pt

e…

O
ct

ob
er

N
ov

e…

D
ec

em
…

2… 2020 2021

585

531

592

518
536

587
534

581
539

531
528

586
564

575

543577 568
559

538537

583

559

Ethnicity Comparison

Current CYPiC

37.5%

62.3%

BME

Other

White

Age Breakdown

Age Sort
0-3 4-5 6-9 10-14 15-18

15.6%

5.1%

14.3%

32.4% 32.6%

Wolverhampton

21.5%

78.5%

Gender Comparison

Current CYPiC

43.5%

56.5%

Female

Male

Wolverhampton

48.8%

51.2%

The numbers of children and young people in care have decreased in the year to date from 543 in March to 531. The number of children leaving care and entering 
care has stabilised over the month after an increase in November. Over 60% of Wolverhampton's children and young people in care are aged 10 and above with 33% 
aged 15 or above. There is an over representation of BAME children in the current children and young people in care cohort compared to the overall city population 
of 0-18 year olds. Over representation is also apparent with males when compared to the overall Wolverhampton population of 0-18 year olds.

P
age 80



Produced by Insight & Performance

City of Wolverhampton Council - Corporate Parenting Report

CYPiC Placement Analysis

% CYPiC placed 
more than 20 mile 

+ from home

% CYPiC with less 
than 3 placements 
in last 12 months

% CYPiC in same 
placement for 2 

years or more

Number of placements for current CYPIC in past 12 months

Placements in last 12 months 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 9

Number of placements for current CYPIC in past 12 months

D
ec

…

Ja
n…

Fe
b…

M
ar

…

Ap
ril

M
ay

Ju
ne Ju
ly

Au
g…

Se
p…

O
ct

…

N
ov

…

D
ec

…

Ja
n…

Fe
b…

M
ar

…

Ap
ril

M
ay

Ju
ne Ju
ly

Au
g…

Se
p…

O
ct

…

N
ov

…

D
ec

…

2019 2020 2021

159 127125142148 149 141 132125 132130126131134145 128138155 126133146 143 130 127141

Placement Grouping Fostering - Agency Fostering - Family / Friend Fostering - LA

12% 93.6%

Current CYPiC by Placement Type

Pl
ac

em
en

t G
ro

up
in

g

Fostering - LA

Fostering - Age…

Fostering - Fami…

Placed with Pare…

Children's Hom…

Placed for Adop…

Semi-Independ…

Independent Liv…

Fostering - Other

Other

(Blank)

YOI / Prison / Se…

192

127

86

40

35

22

11

7

5

3

2

1

72.7%

There continues to 
be more children 

placed with internal 
foster carers than 

agency carers

Through the performance of the Family Values Project, the number of mainstream placements continue to stay higher than those with agency foster carers.
Both the long and short term placement stability continue to stay strong at 94% for the percentage of CYPIC with fewer than 3 placements during the last 12 months from 91% during 2019/20.

2019/20 = 12%
  2018/19 = 13%  

  2017/18 = X 
  2016/17 = 11%

 

2019/20  = 91%
2018/19 = 86%  
2017/18 = 84% 
2016/17 = 87%

 

2019/20  = 74%  
2018/19 = 73%  
2017/18 = 70% 
2016/17 = 65%

 

P
age 81



98.31%

In Timescales Not in Timescale

25.67% 74.33%

Fail Pass

Produced by Insight & Performance

City of Wolverhampton Council - Corporate Parenting Report

Assessments, Reviews, Visits

CYPiC with an up to date assessment
Where a new assessment has been completed within 12 months

CYPiC with an up to date review
Where the First Review is within 20 working days.  Second review 
within 3 months.  Third and subsequent reviews every 6 months

CYPiC who participated in the review
The proportion of CYPiC reviews where the child was present 
or contributed by other means in their review

2019/20 = 78.36%  
2018/19 = 41.03%  

 

2019/20 = 97.27%
2018/19 = 95%  

 

2019/20 = 89%
2018/19 = 89%  

 

Assessments are 74.33% which is a decrease from 78.36% in the previous year, while reviews continue to stay strong with 98% of children recorded as having an up to date review.

CYPiC Review Participation has stayed high at 93% in the month.

93.28%

Pass Fail

P
age 82



Produced by Insight & Performance

City of Wolverhampton Council - Corporate Parenting Report

Education

CYPiC Overall 
Absence (2019)

CYPiC Unauthorised 
Absence

CYPiC Persistent Absence
(2019)

PEP's - All Ages

18.20% 81.80%

PEP's - Early Year's

18.18% 81.82%

PEP's - Year 12 & 13

46.15% 53.85%

Fail Pass

The 2019 KS2 and KS4 results show that Wolverhampton CYPiC has improved in line with 
comparator performance. There remains a significant gap between the performance of 
CYPiC and all Wolverhampton children however small numbers in the cohort can make 
these measurements volatile. For further information about the education attainment of 
CYPiC in Wolverhampton please refer to the Virtual School Head teacher annual report. 

Attendance data has been updated for 2019.  This is taken from published data that was 
released in April 2020, and shows that performance is in line with or better than comparator 
groups.  Wolverhampton are in the upper quartile nationally (best performance) for children 
and young people in care overall absence.  

CYPIC with an up to date PEP performance has improved in December. Work is ongoing in 
the service to improve the PEP performance for the year 12 and 13 cohort.

CYPiC with an up to date PEP
The proportion eligible CYPiC with an up to 
date Personal Education Plan (PEP)

2019/20 = 93%
2018/19 = 89%  

 

2019/20 = 72%
2018/19 = 63%  

 

2019/20 = 81%
2018/19 = 75%  

 

P
age 83



20.41% 79.59%

Fail Pass

16.74% 83.26%

Fail Pass

Produced by Insight & Performance

City of Wolverhampton Council - Corporate Parenting Report

Health & Dental - This data is internal CWC data and reflects different timescales to the data provided by health

CYPiC with an initial health check
Where a health check has been completed within 20 working 
days of entering care (rolling 12 months)

CYPiC with an up to date dental check
Where a dental check has been completed within 12 months

CYPiC with an up to date review health check
Where a review health check has been completed within 12 months

Care Applications

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

27 18
44 32 34 36

20 19 25 18 26 26 17 15 20 14 15

36
5354

26
34

43 44
32 34 3529

36
28

49
3331

38

Number of children subject of Care applications Timeliness of care applications (Avg. Duration)

22%

The percentage of dental checks completed has started to improve over the previous few months. Medical checks which were previously an area of strength had been low previously, partly impacted by recording 
issues, and has started to see improvements in the month, increasing to 83% in the month. Of the new CYPiC in the past 12 months 22% had a health assessment within the first 20 working days, although this 
would not affect the other health percentages, however this remains an area of concern and continues to be flagged as an area of concern in internal performance management meetings.  We will be expecting to 
see an increase in the length of care proceedings due to the impact of Covid-19. There has also been a delay in timeliness due to the court initially not being able to manage proceedings virtually.

2019/20 = 90%
2018/19 = 91%  

 

2019/20 = 95%
2018/19 = 95%  

 

P
age 84



Produced by Insight & Performance

City of Wolverhampton Council - Corporate Parenting Report

Adoption

CYPiC adopted within A1 indicator (428 days)
Average time between a child entering care and moving in with 
their adoptive family

CYPiC adopted within A2 indicator (122 Days)
Average time between receiving court authority to place and 
finding a match

CYPiC adopted within A10 indicator (428 Days)
Average time between a child entering care and moving in with their 
adoptive family (stopped at point of fostering for foster carers 
adoptions)

There were 34 adoptions so far in 2021/22, this has been heavily impacted by Covid-19 as court closures cased delays in timeliness, hearings and orders are now being listed which is a positive. The number of 
children placed with their adoptive families currently is 22

2019/20 = 74%
2018/19 = 55%  

 

2019/20 = 64%
2018/19 = 68%  

 

2019/20 = 89%
2018/19 = 73%  

 

Number of Adoptions

2020-21 2021-22

11

34

Adoptions - A1 (Avg. Days)

705
633

Adoptions - A2 (Avg. Days)

348
294

2020-21 2021-22

Adoptions - A10 (Avg. Days)

705
633

44.12% 55.88%

Fail Pass

52.94% 47.06%

Fail Pass

44.12% 55.88%

Fail Pass

P
age 85



Produced by Insight & Performance

City of Wolverhampton Council - Corporate Parenting Report

Care Leavers 

Care Leavers EET Status
Education, Employment and Training of Care 
Leavers aged 19-21

Care Leavers available to work
Care Leavers aged 17-21 who are available for 
education, training or employment

  2019/20 Year Out-turn = 57%
  2018/19 Year Out-turn = 61% 
  2019/20 West Midlands = 50% 
  2019/20 Stat Neighbours = 48%
  2019/20 England = 53%

  2019/20 Year Out-turn = 91%
  2018/19 Year Out-turn = 88% 
  2019/20 West Midlands = 85% 
  2019/20 Stat Neighbours = 86%
  2019/20 England = 85%

Care Leaver outcomes continues to be an area of strength for the authority. At the end of December 2021 61% of 19-21 year olds were in Education, Employment or Training. This is an improvement when 
compared to the previous year's out turn. 91% of care leavers aged 17-21 are available for work. This is a significant achievement when considering the high levels of youth unemployment within the city. Of the 
19-21 cohort 12% (22 young people) were not available due to pregnancy or young motherhood, illness or disability. The proportion of care leavers currently deemed to be in suitable accommodation is also 
included and shows that 93% of the cohort are currently in suitable accommodation.

Care Leavers in suitable 
accommodation
Care Leavers aged 19-21 who live in suitable 
accommodation

38.8% 61.2%

Fail Pass

92.7% 7.3%

Accommodation considered suitable Accommodation considered unsuitable

Current Care Leaver EET Status (19-21)

F1 Full-time Higher Ed F2 Full-time Not Higher
Ed

F3 Full-time
Training/Employ

P2 Part-time Not Higher
Ed

P3 Part-time
Training/Employ

G6 Pregnant / young
mother

G4 NALM - Illness /
Disability

G5 NEET - Other Reasons NULL

17

31
35

5

21

12 10

46

1

8.8% 91.2%

No Yes

P
age 86


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 25 November 2021
	5 Schedule of outstanding matters
	7 Virtual School Head Annual Report 2021
	8 Children and Young People's Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2021 - 2024
	9 Support for Care Leavers Over Christmas 2021
	10 Performance Monitoring Information

